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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 18-cv-00981-CMA-MEH

HEIDI GILBERT,
AMBER MEANS,
MANDY MELOON,
GABRIELA JOSLIN,
KAY POE, and
JANE DOES 6-50,

Plaintiffs,
V.

UNITED STATES OLYMPIC COMMITTEE,
USA TAEKWONDQO, INC.,

U.S. CENTER FOR SAFESPORT,
STEVEN LOPEZ,

JEAN LOPEZ, and

JOHN DOES 1-5,

Defendants.

RECOMMENDATION OF UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

Michael E. Hegarty, United States Magistrate Judge

Plaintiffs assert twenty-one chas against the various Defendan&eeSecond Amended
Complaint, ECF No. 68 (“SAC”). Defendantsited States Olympic Committee (“USOC”), USA
Taekwondo, Inc. (“USAT"), and Jean and Stev@&mpez (collectivelythe “Lopez Defendants”)
have filed separate Motions to Dismiss seeking to dismiss the claims in their entirety.
Additionally, the USOC moves under Fed. R. Civ.1R(f) to strike Plaitiffs’ class action
allegations. As set forth below, | respectfully recommend that all motiongrheted in part

anddenied in part.

1 Defendant U.S. Center for SafeSport (“SafeSpdréis also filed a Motion to Dismiss, which |
will address in a separate recommendation.
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BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs in this lawsuit are female tagtindo athletes who sought to compete for Team
USA. Plaintiffs allege that dung the time they participatechd competed in the USAT system,
they were sexually abused, assaulted, and rhpdtle Lopez Defendants, who Plaintiffs claim
are prominent members of the United States taekly community. Plaintiffs’ allegations in this
lawsuit constitute three components. Firsgimlffs allege coerced sexual conduct and sexual
assault perpetrated byeth.opez Defendants. Second, Piidi; allege the USOC and USAT
ignored and discredited their reports of suchdom in the years following the assaults. Finally,
Plaintiffs allege that executives of the USOG &iSAT lied to Congress ian attempt to divert
blame and prevent institutionafoem. In the interests of judial economy and efficiency, many
allegations from the 200-page SAC are omitted or significantly condensed in the following
background section. Where those facts becomeamlido resolution of the present motions, |
discuss them at the appropriate juncture. Plairfaffiual allegations arektan as true for analysis
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) pursuanfghcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).
l. The Defendants

Defendant USOC is the federally chartered institution that exercises “exclusive
jurisdiction” over “all matters pertaining to United States participation in the Olympic Games, the
Paralympic Games, and the Pan-American Games .36 U.S.C. 20503(3)(A). The USOC'’s
jurisdiction includes the responsibyi to “organize, finance, ancbntrol the represntation of the
United States in the competitions and events of the Olympic Games . . . .” § 220505(c)(3).
Congress also empowered the USOC to “recmgmligible amateur spisr organizations as
national governing bodies [(“NGBs”)] for any sptirat is included on the program of the Olympic

Games . . .."” § 220505(c)(4).



Defendant USAT is the NGB recognizég the USOC to govern the United States’
participation in taekwondo.SeeSAC 1 98. Thus, USAT has tlmesponsibility to select the
athletes, officials, and coaches who will reprgsthe United States in taekwondo in Olympic
competitions. See idJ 95. Defendant Jean Lopez was thadheoach of the USAT team at the
2004, 2008, 2012, and 2016 Olympidd. 1 139. Jean’s brother, Defendant Steven Lopez, is a
well-known athlete on #htaekwondo team who won gold mksdat the 2000 and 2004 games and
a bronze medal in 2008d. § 24. The two are part of a famtlyat carries the oniker the “first
family” of taekwondo.See id T 23-25.

Plaintiffs allege that during the time thegrticipated in the USAT system, they were
victims of sexual abuse, assault, and rapeclay &nd Steven Lopez and by other members of the
taekwondo community who are not defendants h8ex idf{ 362-722.

Il. Plaintiffs’ Allegations of Sexual Assault

A. Mandy Meloon

Ms. Meloon was born in Germany in 198M. § 362. At the age of thirteen, she moved
to the Olympic training center in Colora&prings to train full-time in taekwonddd. 1Y 363—
67. Soon after moving to the centshe was befriended by Jean Lopdd. {1 368—69. Ms.
Meloon asserts that Jean Lopemyaged in sexual conversationghaher and referred to her as
his girlfriend. Id. § 370. She alleges that Danny Kim, an adult member of the taekwondo national
team, raped Ms. Meloon in hayxam at the training center in 199Rl. 1 391. For approximately
another year, while Ms. Meloon was still livingthe training center, Mr. Kim continued to have
sex with Ms. Meloon.See idf{ 392-97. Ms. Meloon made oral complaints about Mr. Kim in

1997 and a written complaint in 200&I. 7 398.



In 1995, at the age of fourteen, Ms. Blah made the USAT senior national teaid.

1 375. She was still on that team in 1997 wheaweaied to Cairo, Egypt, to compete in the World
Cup. Id. 1 399-402. During the trip, Ms. Meloon shaadubtel room with Plaintiff Kay Podd.

1 402. Ms. Meloon claims that, one night whiletbgirls were asleep, Jean Lopez entered the
girls’ room, climbed into Ms. Meloon’s bed, andjiially penetrated her vagina for approximately
five minutes.Id. 1 404-07. Ms. Meloon pretended she was asleep during this akkai#08.

Ms. Meloon left the Olympic training cemtm 1998 and soon thereafter moved to Texas
to train at Jean Lopez’s gynid.  421. In 2000, when Ms. Meloon was eighteen, she began to
have a sexual relationship with Steven Lopé&t.  422. Ms. Meloon asserts that Steven soon
became physically abusivéd. § 426. In 2002, he allegedhynched Ms. Meloon in the facéd.

1 427. USOC and USAT officials “were aware” of thid. 1 428. Ms. Meloon also alleges that
in 2004, Steven broke into her houbeat and raped her, then baat raped her again in 2005.
Id. 1191 429-30. Later that year, at the World Cpamships in Madrid, Spain, Steven purportedly
physically assaulted Ms. Meloon tineir hotel, breaking her ribdd.  431. Ms. Meloon claims
that, because she began to see other mentlateéMadrid incident, Coach Jean Lopez dropped
Ms. Meloon from the national teanid. 1 433-34.

B.  KayPoe

In 1996, at the age of fourteen, Ms. Peeame the youngest-ever member of the United
States national taekwondo teandl. § 487. By 1997, Ms. Poe was having a sexual relationship
with a twenty-two-year-old membef the team; the USOC alleggdiad knowledge of this sexual
relationship.1d. 11 491-93. Ms. Poe asserts that Jagrek “forced a sexuatlationship” with
her “while she was still a minor.Td. § 497. She also contenitiat, by 1999 when Ms. Poe was

seventeen years old, Jean was haviligéxual intercourse with herd. 1 498-502. This sexual
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relationship continued through the 2000 Olymg#mes in Sydney, when she was a competitor
on the team and Jean was the coddh 507. Ms. Poe asserts she was able to stop Jean from
forcing sex on her shortly after those gamdsf 508. But at the 2002 U.S. Open, Ms. Poe alleges
Jean followed her to her hotel room and “dryrimed” her until he ejaculated in his pants.
19 508—-09. Ms. Poe left the sportaékwondo after she failed to make the 2008 Olympic team.
Id. § 512.

C. HeidiGilbert

Ms. Gilbert was a member of the USAdam at the 2002 Pan-Am Championships in
Ecuador.ld. 1 523. She alleges that one night, whkile was celebrating with Diana Lopez (the
Lopez Defendants’ sister) in Jean’s hotel rodegn entered the room and wrestled Ms. Gilbert
onto the bed. Jean pinned her down and “dmped” her until he ejacated in his pantsld.
19 528-34. A year later, after a competitiorGermany, Ms. Gilbert and Jean (among others)
attended a partyld. 1 542. Ms. Gilbert claims that Jeanas sexually aggressive with her by
initiating physical contact and eventuadjgve her a drink that had been druggktl . 543-44.
The drink caused her to fabst pass out,” and she felt she could not maddef§ 545-46. She
contends that Jean put herartaxi, where he felt her breasiisd vagina over her clothesd.
1 547. Ms. Gilbert also alleges that, when they reached the hatelddgged her to the back of
a lobby area and digitally penetrategl and performed oral sex on héd. { 548-51.

D. GabrielaJoslin

Ms. Joslin was born on March 14, 1983, and grew up in Texas. PIs.’” Statement Non-Opp’'n
to Def. Jean & Steven Leg’s Req. Judicial Notice 2, EQ¥o0. 122; SAC § 602. She had known
the Lopez brothers since siwas a young child. SAC § 603. Jean Lopez became her taeckwondo

coach in 2006.1d.  605. That same year, M®oslin planned to compete in the German Open to
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gain experience to compete for the Olympic team d&uthe last minute, Jean informed her that
he would not travel to the competitiold. 1 606-10. However, Steven Lopez was attending the
event as a USAT athlete and coach difieked to serve as Ms. Joslin’s coadd. 11 611-12.

The night before Ms. Joslin’s first match, Steven went to her hotel room and said he wanted
to discuss her upcoming matdil. § 616. Ms. Joslin asserts thatce in the room, Steven turned
on the television and changed the channel to a pornographic nidvf617. He then grabbed
Ms. Joslin, pinned her to the beahd began rubbinger buttocks.Id. 11 618-19. Ms. Joslin
states, “[i]t was clear to [her] &b Steven required sex beforeviiguld address his responsibilities
as coach.”ld. 1 620. The two then had sexd Ms. Joslin continued #dlow Steven to have sex
with her for the remainder of her taekwondo caréerf{ 621-22. She lastdhaex with Steven
in 2010. Id. § 624. She states she did thig of fear of Jean L@z, who she alleges “made it
clear . . . she was to cater to Stevelul” | 622 (quotation omitted).

After retiring as an athlet®/s. Joslin began a careerliexas as a taekwondo coadd.

1 625. Around the same time, “Jean Lopegan a sexual relatiship with her.”ld.  626. Ms.
Joslin alleges than late 2011, Jean viehtly raped herld. § 630. She contends that she became
pregnant by the rape and had an abortidn{ 631.

E. AmberMeans

Ms. Means was born on May 7, 1990, andwgrup in Spokane, Washington. PIs.’
Statement Non-Opp’n to Def. Jean & Steven [2p&eq. Judicial Notice 2; SAC  655. She first
met the Lopez Defendants at a taekwondo caniourston in 2003. SAC § 656. After the camp,
Jean Lopez told Ms. Means’ parentg $tad tremendous potential in taekwondid.  661. By
2004, Jean persuaded the Meanses to move t@ Sexamber could train at the Lopez’ taeckwondo

studio. Id. 1 662. In 2007, when Ms. Means was 17, she and Steven Lopez began going on dates.
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Id. § 675. Steven first kissed heteafthe two saw a avie that yearld. { 767. Ms. Means asserts
that by 2008, when she was ssilventeen, the two had started xusé relationship, which they
continued at competitions throughout 2008. 11 685, 688. She alleges that in June 2008, Steven
drugged and raped her at a private palty.Jf 691-95.

lll.  Reports of Sexual Assault

Both Ms. Meloon and Ms. Gilbert allege thegported their allegations of sexual assault
by Jean Lopez in approximage2006 to 2008. MsMeloon alleges shpersonally handed her
written complaint to executives at the USG@d USAT, including David Askinas, Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQO”) at USATId. 11 189-91. She claims th\t. Askinas later called Ms.
Meloon’s report of rape ‘amischaracterization.”ld. { 187.

In 2006, Ms. Gilbert received a call from Mr.kksas, asking whether she intended to file
a complaint against Jean fois alleged rape in 2003d. § 195. In 2008, Mr. Askinas allegedly
told Ms. Meloon she could have a spot on the Qlignteam, but she would have to withdraw her
complaint against Jean and “sign a statenwamifessing that she was mentally ill and had
fabricated her allegations . . .1d. 1 200. Ms. Meloon declined tetract her statemenid. § 201.

In March 2015, USAT hired Donald Alperstaipecifically to investigte allegations about
the Lopez Defendantdd. § 269. USAT declared that Mr. Algggein had “unfaered ability to
carry out his task,” and that any evidenceuheovered would be subngtt to law enforcement
agencies. Id. 1 219. However, Plaintiffs allege thtte “USOC and USAT secretly worked
together, behind closed doors,make sure that the investigati against the Lopez brothers was
delayed and obstructed,” because the organizatranged them to participate and compete in the

2016 Olympics.Id. 11 225-26. After the games concludgld, Alperstein sent Ms. Gilbert an



email stating, “Now that the Olympics are over #&mdgs are settling down, | want to get moving
again on the Steven Lopez disciplinary caseld’ | 235 (alteration in original).
IV. USOC'’s and USAT'’s Testimony before Congress

Plaintiffs also allege that executives & thSOC and USAT have recently testified falsely
before Congress. Plaintiffs allege Scott Blaakiformer USOC CEO, falsely testified that some
NGBs have bigger budgets than the USOC, andduerurately stated thmercentage of USOC'’s
budget that is spent on overheddl.| 171. Plaintiffs also allegg&teve McNally, USAT Executive
Director, testified before the Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee that Mr. Alperstein
“operated without any limitatioon its budget, with no control BYySA Taekwondo as to who he
should or should not pursue . . .Id. § 220 (quotingexamining the Olympic Community’s Ability
to Protect Athletes from Sexual Abuse: HegrBefore the H. Subcomm. on Oversight and
Investigations of the H. Comm. on Energy and Commédsth Cong. 36 (2018) (statement of
Steve McNally, Executive Director of USAT) (undafi@l transcript). Plaintiffs allege these
statements were falséd. 1 220.
V. Medals and Money

Plaintiffs allege generally that the O and USAT sought to shield the Lopez
Defendants, because the institutiovere fixated on “medals and moneyd. {1 6. In 2014, Mr.
Blackmun purportedly stated, “For us, it's all abmédals[,]” and “[h]Jow do we help American
athletes get medals put around the@cks? We have a line sight between every decision we
make and the impact on how many Americans will win medald.” (alterations in original)
(quoting Sally JenkinsThe USOC Needs a New Leader WhoeSabout Athletes More Than

Expense Account®Vash. Post (July 3, 2018)). Plaintifftegle “[a]nything or ayone that gets in



the way of the USOC’s commercial quest for ‘ralscand money’ is sileed, obstructed, defamed,
or intimidated into keeping quiet.Id. § 17.

Plaintiffs characterize the Olympics as “big busineskl” § 103. The USOC has the
exclusive rights to trademark eyéring related to the Olympicsid.  109. It purportedly
generates about $230 million per year, laygebm marketing and sponsorshipsd. Thus,
according to Plaintiffs, the USOC “generatefg]ndreds of millions of dollars of additional
revenue off the backs and labor of theletes who wear Team USA uniformdd. § 111. From
this revenue, 129 USOC employeeske six figure salariesd. § 176. Plaintiffs allege, “Because
the Lopez brothers were generating medalsraodey for the USOC and USAT, . . . the USOC
purposefully chose to discredils. Meloon’s reports of miscondtjand leave Jn and Steven
Lopez in their positions, which would bring foer revenue (money and medals) to the USOC.”
Id. 1 192.

LEGAL STANDARD

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complamust contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim tiefahat is plausible on its face.”Ashcroft v. Igbal 556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotirigell Atl. Corp. v. Twomblyb50 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). Plausibility,
in the context of a motion to dismiss, means thatplaintiff pled facts wich allow “the court to
draw the reasonable inferentleat the defendant is liabl®r the misconduct alleged.”ld.
Twomblyrequires a two-prong analysis. First, a taunust identify “the allegations in the
complaint that are not entitled to the assumption of truth,” that is, those allegations that are legal
conclusions, bare assertions, or merely conclusddy.at 678-80. Second, the Court must

consider the factual allegation®“tletermine if they plausibly suggean entitlement to relief.”



Id. at 681. If the allegations stadeplausible claim for relief, suatlaim survives the motion to
dismiss. Id. at 680.

Plausibility refers “to the scope of the allegation a complaint: if they are so general that
they encompass a wide swath of conduct, mudhimhocent, then the plaintiffs have not nudged
their claims across the lineofin conceivable to plausibleSEC v. Shield¥44 F.3d 633, 640 (10th
Cir. 2014) (quotingKhalik v. United Air Lines671 F.3d 1188, 1191 (10th Cir. 2012)). “The
nature and specificity of the allegations reqdito state a plausible claim will vary based on
context.” Safe Streets All. v. Hickenloop&59 F.3d 865, 878 (10th Cir. 2017) (quotikgn.
Penn Gaming, LLC v. Collin®56 F.3d 1210, 1215 (10th Cir. 20L1)Thus, while the Rule
12(b)(6) standard does n@tquire that a plaintiff establish a prima facie case in a complaint, the
elements of each alleged causaction may help to determine whether the plaintiff has set forth
a plausible claimKhalik, 671 F.3d at 1191.

However, “[tlhreadbare recitals of theemlents of a cause attion, supported by mere
conclusory statements, do not sufficégbal, 556 U.S. at 678. The complaint must provide “more
than labels and conclusions” or merely “a formutaicitation of the elements$ a cause of action,”
so that “courts ‘are not bound to accept as triegal conclusion couched agactual allegation.™
Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (quotingapasan v. Allain478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)). “Determining
whether a complaint states a plausible claim ftefravill . . . be a context-specific task that
requires the reviewing coutd draw on its judicial experience and common sensgijal, 556
U.S. at 679. “[W]here the well-pleaded facts do pertmit the court to infer more than the mere
possibility of misconduct,” the corfgint has made an allegatiorut it has not shown that the

pleader is entitled to relief.1d. (quotation marks and citation omitted).
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ANALYSIS

Plaintiffs’ SAC asserts twenty-one claimgainst the various Defendants. However,
Plaintiffs have voluntarily whdrawn seven of those clainjglaims 1-2, 67, 11-12, and 18) in
the briefing for the present motionSeeResp. 3, ECF No. 139. Thusurteen claims remain,
which fall into three broad categories: (1piohs by individual Plaitiffs under federal sex
trafficking and forced labor laws; (2) a®D claim; and (3) state law claims.

Collectively, Defendants argaach claim should be dismissedcause the claim is barred
by the statute of limitations, the Plaintiffslfeo plausibly state the claim, or bottSeelLopez
Defs.” Mot. Dismiss, ECF NdLO6; USOC'’s Mot. Dismiss, ECNo. 108; USAT’s Mot. Dismiss,
ECF No. 109. Plaintiffs filed an omnibesponse on November 1, 2018, and the Defendants
filed Replies to each motion on November 15, 2028eECF No. 139; USOC'’s Reply, ECF No.
155; Lopez Defs.” Reply, ECF N&57; USAT's Reply, ECF No. 158.

l. Alleged Violations of FederalSex Trafficking and Forced Labor Law

Plaintiffs bring the majority of their clais under the Trafficking Victims Protection Act
(“TVPA"). Within these claims, the parties raiseveral disputes that are best resolved as
preliminary matters. First, the piad vigorously dispute ehstatute of limitations that is applicable
to the claims, since the TVP@ncluding its limitation provisin) has been amended during the
period in which the underlying seal abuse has allegedly occurred. Second, the parties dispute
the definitions of key terms in the TVPA. Sgdexlly, the parties digte whether the alleged
sexual acts fall within thedefinition of “services” in 18 U.&. § 1589(a), and they disagree on the
proper definition of “venture” irg 1589(b). The lattessue leads to the question of the elements
necessary to state a claim under § 1589(b), whidh &lso address as a preliminary matter. After

resolving these issues, | will address each claim individually.
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A. PreliminaryMatters

1. Applicable Statute of Limitations

Plaintiffs and Defendants (particularly thedez Defendants) first dispute the applicable
statute of limitations. The Lopez Defendants athaéthe proper limitations period is that which
existed at the time of the undgrlg conduct; in other words, sie the TVPA carried a four-year
statute of limitations in 2006, any claim for a FX violation regardingonduct that occurred on
January 1, 2006 expired on January 1, 2010. Defgsa@antend that thigesult should persist
even if Congress later adtla longer limitations period.

Plaintiffs counter that thepalicable statute of limitations is found in the present amended
statute, and any claim based omdwoct that occurred within that limitations period is timely.
However, Plaintiffs acknowledge this position consaan exception: if at any time a claim would
have been barred under a previously existing limitations period, that claim would be barred.

Most (but not all) of this dispute plays out the context of Plaintiffs’ TVPA claims.
Congress originally passed the Victims of Ticking and Violence Protection Act in 2000. Pub.
L. No. 106-386, 114 Stat. 1464. This Act created @niminal penalties for conduct currently
prohibited in 18 U.S.C. 88 1589 and 1590. TraffigkVictims ProtectiorAct § 112(a)(2), 114
Stat. at 1486-87. In 2003, Congress amended theoAatd a private right of action for victims
of violations of 8§ 1589, 1590, 4691 at § 1595. Trafficking Vitns Protection Reauthorization
Act of 2003, Pub. L. No. 108-193 § 4(a)(4)(A}.7 Stat. 2875, 2878. At the time, the statute
carried a four-year limitationgeriod for filingcivil actions. Cruz v. Maypa773 F.3d 138, 143—
44 (4th Cir. 2014) (citing 28 U.S.C. 8 1658(aongress amended the TVBAimitations period
to ten years on December 23008. William Wilberforce TrHicking Victims Protection

Reauthorization Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-457 § 221(2)(B), 122 Stat. 5044, 5067.
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Defendants argue that since most of thegad sexual abuse occurred when the statute
carried a four-year limitations period (i.e., bef®@ecember 23, 2008), any claim based on conduct
that occurred during that time period has expjiteecause the SAC waketl in 2018, significantly
more than four years after 2008. Plaintiffs regpthrat the existing ten-ge statute of limitations
applies, even to claims based on conduct that occurred when the TVPA carried a four-year
limitations period, so long as a claim had nevgrired. Notably, if the te-year period were to
apply here, then claims based on conduct titaurred after May 4, 2008 (ten years before
Plaintiffs filed the First Amended Complaingre timely. However, because the ten-year
limitations period did not commence until Decempgy 2008, | must determine whether a claim
based on conduct that occurred between May 4, 2008, and December 22, 2008, is timely.

In Cruz, the Fourth Circuit addressed this psecquestion in theontext of the TVPA
amendments at issue here. The plaintif€nuz alleged that the defendant transported her from
the Philippines to serve as a domestic employdeealefendant’s residence, where he forced her
to work grueling hours and isolatbéér from contacting her familyld. at 141-43. Eventually,
the plaintiff brought a lawsuit against tdefendant for violatins of the TVPA.Id. at 143-44.
The conduct alleged by Cruz occutrat a time when the TVPA w#&d the four-year limitation
period for filinga civil action. Id. at 143. But, by the time the ptaiif filed her suit, her claims
would have been time barred if they westiject to the four-year limitatiorSee id(recounting
that the district court dismissed the plaintiff§PA claims, because they were barred by the four-
year statute of limitations). However, the pldirdrgued her claims wemibject to the ten-year
statute of limitations creatl by the 2008 amendmernd. Ultimately, the Fourth Circuit held that

the ten-year limitations periodoplied to claims that were uxgred at the time of the 2008
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amendment, finding that its cdosion did not amount to impag] an impermissible retroactive
effect. Id.

In reaching its decision, the Fourth Citcfallowed the Supreme Court’s framework in
Landgraf v. USI Film Productb11 U.S. 244 (1994), for deterrmg whether a statute applies
retrospectively. See Cruz773 F.3d at 144-45. Ibandgraf the Court recognized that “the
presumption against retroactive Iglgtion is deeply rooted in ojurisprudence,” 511 U.S. at 265,
“but it also noted that ‘[a] state does not operateetrospectively” merely because it is applied
in a case arising from conducttadating the statute’s enactmentCruz, 773 F.3d at 144
(alteration in original) (quotind.andgraf 511 U.S. at 269).Landgraf provides a three-step
analysis to determine whether a statute appliesmaoluct that occurred prior to the enactment of
the statute. First, a court mudetermine whether Congress hapmssly prescribed the statute’s
proper reach.”Landgraf 511 U.S. at 280. If so, Congee intent is given effectld. But second,
if the statute does not contairchua command, “the court musttelenine whether the new statute
would have retroactiveffect, i.e., whether it would impairghts a party possessed when he acted,
increase a party’s liability for past conduct,impose new duties with spect to transactions
already completed.'ld. Third, if the statute would havetreactive effect, the Supreme Court’s
“traditional presumption teaches that it does rtegn absent clear congressional intent favoring
such a result.”ld.

Here—asin Cruz—Congress has not expressly prédssi the current statute of
limitation’s proper reach, so | must determineetWter applying it in this case would have
retroactive effect. II€ruz the court determined that it would riot two reasons. First, the court
found that “applying a new limitations period doexpired claims does not ‘attach[] new legal

consequences to events completed before its enactmeut.”at 145 (alteration in original)
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(quotingLandgraf 511 U.S. at 270). It found that, @md) as a claim was unexpired at the time
Congress extended the relevant statute of limitatiapglying that statet“does not ‘increase a
party’s liability for past conduct[.]”’ld. (quotingLandgraf 511 U.S. at 280). Second, the Fourth
Circuit noted “in the criminal context, there asconsensus that extending a limitations period
before prosecution is time-batredoes not run afoubf the Ex Post Fdo Clause of the
Constitution.” Id. (collecting cases). | agree with the RbuCircuit’'s analysis. Any of Plaintiffs’
TVPA claims that were unexpired when Coegg amended the Act to include a ten-year
limitations period are timely to the extent they faihin ten years of the filing the First Amended
Complaint. In this case, any claim bassdconduct thatacurred between May 4, 2008, and
December 22, 2008 (the disputed pdji was within the then-existing four-year limitations period
when Congress amended the TVPA on December 23, 2008. As such, those claims were never
expired and, therefore, they are timely asserted in this &Gese.alsdOwino v. CoreCivic, Ing.
No. 17-CV-1112 JLS (NLS), 2018 WL 2193644,*ap (S.D. Cal. May 14, 2018) (notir@ruz
strongly supports the conclusioratithe current ten-year statuielimitations applies to TVPA
claims).

The Lopez Defendants oppose this conclusion and ciédecca v. Little 54 F. Supp. 3d
1064 (D. Minn. 2014) for support. Lopez Defs.” Reply 4. To be sure, that court was presented
with the same question and arrived at a d#ifie conclusion, but | am not persuaded by its
reasoning. The court ibarcadecided against applying the terayémitations period to conduct
that occurred before its enactment, concludintyibuld have impermissible retroactive effect
because it significantly broadens the basis faf kability under the [TVRA].” 54 F. Supp. 3d at
1069. However, if “significantly broadening the Isddor liability in the criminal context does

not implicate retroactity, | see no reason (ambarcadoes not explain) kay retroactivity would
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be implicated in the civil contexiSee Cruz773 F.3d at 145 (“[I]n the criminal context, there is a
consensus that extending aitations period before prosecutigntime-barred does not run afoul
of the Ex Post Facto Clause of the Constitution.”). More critically, the plainébarcabrought
his claims under sections of the TVPA trattthe time of the conduct, only provided oiminal
liability. Seeb4 F. Supp. 3d at 1069 (“[The plaintiff] bgs civil claims under [TVPA] provisions
that previously only imposed criminal liability . .”). Thus, the court there correctly noted that
“[r]etroactively applying the amendment would subject defendants to increased liability not
contemplated when they engaged in the alleged conddct&pplying the civil remedy provision
to conduct statutorily prohibited asritminal” would certainly run afoul dfandgrafs prohibition
on applying a statute that wouldchtirease a party’s liability for paconduct.” 511 U.S. at 280.
Even so, thé\barcacourt’s concern with “significantly broen[ing] the basis for civil liability”
suggests it may have ruled thegplying the amended statute lohitations would have an
impermissible retroactive effed4 F. Supp. 3d at 1068ut | find the reasong of the Fourth
Circuit in Cruz more sound. Plaintiffs’ TVPA claims thate within the premnt ten-year statute
of limitations are timely asserted in this ca8éthe same time, Plaintiff’s claims based on conduct
that occurred outside the limitatiopsriod, as described here, are barred.

2. Definition of “Services” in 18 U.S.C. 88 1589(a), 1590(a)

The parties also dispute whether coerdaat purportedly consensual) sexual acts fall
within the definition of “labor” or “servicesin the TVPA. Defendastargue that the sexual
conduct alleged in the SAC does not fall witttie statutory definition. The Lopez Defendants
make this argument most cleaven they assert the “sexual sees” alleged in the SAC are not
within the “plain meaning” of the terms “labor” or “services” in 18 U.S.C. § 158%agl opez

Defs.” Mot. Dismiss 9. But th&enth Circuit has embraced defionhs of those terms that are
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broader than the Lopez Defendamtspose, in a context that isadogous to the alggations in the
SAC.

In United States v. Kaufmab46 F.3d 1242 (10th Cir. 2008g¢deral prosecutors brought
charges under 8§ 1589 against a married couple aperated an “unlicensed group home for the
mentally ill” and who persuaded, coerced, or fortemlhome’s residents to perform a variety of
bizarre sexually explicit actsSee idat 1246-50. For example, the couple forced the mentally ill
patients to perform fopornographic videos.ld. at 1248. Other videos showed the husband
touching the patients’ genitalsd. at 1249. At trial, the jury wagiven instructions that defined
“labor” as “the expenditure of physical aonental effort” and “services” as “conduct or
performance that assists or béisessomeone or somethingld. at 1260. The defendants appealed,
objecting to these instruotis and arguing that theasiite applied only to dbor or services” that
constitute “work in an economic sensed. The Tenth Circuit rejected this argument.

First, the court noted that the definitionsedsy the district court were “the ordinary
meaning of those terms.Id. at 1261 (citing 8 Oxford Enigh Dictionary 559 (2d ed. 1989); 15
Oxford English Dictionary 34, 36 (2d ed. 19895econd, it found that the purpose of the TVPA
is to “combat trafficking in persons, a contemgry manifestation of avery whose victims are
predominantly women and children, to ensure qunst effective punishment of traffickers, and to
protect their victims.”Id. (citing 22 U.S.C. § 7101(a)). Finally, the court drew upon the Fourth
Circuit’'s decision inUnited States v. Udeozds15 F.3d 260, 266 (4th Ci2008), in which the
court noted that sexual abuse bagn “a badge and incident oha&ude which is distressingly
common, not just historically, but for youngomen who find themselves in coercive

circumstances today.” The Ter@lircuit concluded thistatement “suggests that sexual acts that

17



have beertoerced by other mearge covered by the invaitary servitude statute.Kaufman
546 F.3d at 1262 (emphasis added).

In this case, Plaintiffs allege the Lopez Defendants used their positions as influential
members of USAT to coerce them to perform or submit to engaging in various sexual acts. SAC
1 708. The Plaintiffs all felt their ability to comie required a “pay-to-play,” and they could not
refuse the Lopez Defendants’ requirement%omaer to compete in USA Taekwondo and reach
the Olympics.” Id. Ms. Joslin alleges, “out of fear tife Lopez brothers,” she permitted Steven
to have sex with her for the remainder of her taekwondo career after they first had sex when he
offered to be her coachd. 11 620-24. Likewise, Ms. Means alleges she had sex with Steven
Lopez in 2008 as they traveled to taekwondo events worldwidlef 688. “[S]exual acts that
have been coerced by other means are cdugrehe involuntanservitude statute.’Kaufman
546 F.3d at 1262. In light éaufman | conclude that the pay-to-play sexual acts alleged in the
SAC are “labor” or “services” ahose terms exist in the TVPA.

3. Definition of “Venturéin 18 U.S.C. § 1589(b)

The parties next dispute the definition of taem “venture” in § 1589(b). This term also
appears in 8§ 1595(a), which providas civil remedy that permits Plaintiffs to assert their claims
in the SAC. Those two sections provide, respectively:

Whoever knowingly benefits, financially ¢y receiving anything of value, from

participation in asrenturewhich has engaged in theoprding or obtaimg of labor

or services by any of the means describeslibsection (a),Howing or in reckless

disregard of the fact that tlventurehas engaged in thequiding or obtaining of
labor or services by any of such means]ldte punished as provided in subsection

(d).
8§ 1589(b) (emphasis added).

An individual who is a victim of a violation of this chapter may bring a civil action
against the perpetrator (or whoever knagly benefits, financially or by receiving
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anything of value from participation inv@nturewhich that person knew or should

have known has engaged in an act in ¥iofaof this chapterjn an appropriate

district court of the United Statemnd may recover damages and reasonable

attorneys|’] fees.

§ 1595(a) (emphasis added).

| begin by addressing the dafion the USOC encourages me to adopt. The USOC argues
that “venture” is defined as a “sex traffickingwere.” USOC’s Mot. Dismiss 9. To illustrate its
position, the USOC modified Plaintiffsllagation to incorporate its definitiorSee id(“Count 9
alleges that the USOC knew or résssly disregarded ‘the fact thide [sex trafficking] venture
was engaged in the providing obtaining of Amber’s labor or services by means of force.™)
(alteration added by the @) (quoting SAC { 796).

The USOC relies on two cases to suppttargument that “venture” means “sex
trafficking venture”:United States v. Afyayé32 F. App’x 272 (B Cir. 2016) and\oble v.
Weinstein335 F. Supp. 3d 504 (S.D.N.Y. 2018), which reliepfyare At the outset, it is critical
to note that both cases involve claims brougheu8dL591, which also poteally creates liability
against those who “participat[e] amventure” when the ventureaagaged in sex traffickingSee
8§ 1591(a)(2). Neither case invek a claim under § 1589(b), an@r are persuasive reasons to
conclude (as at least one othmurt has) that the term “venture” is defined differently in
§ 1591(a)(2) than is in § 1589(b).

But | will first address the USOC'’s reliance on the holdinéfiyarefor its definition of
“venture.” Section 1591 provides as follows:

(a) Whoever knowingly—

(1) in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, or within the special
maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, recruits, entices,

harbors, transports, prowd, obtains, advertises, maintains, patronizes, or
solicits by any means a person; or
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(2) benefits, financially or by eceiving anything of value, from
participation in aventurewhich has engaged in aot described in violation
of paragraph (1),
knowing, or, except where thect constituting the violadn of paragraph (1) is
advertising, in reckless disreganf the fact, that means fidrce, threats of force,
fraud, coercion described in subsection (g)¢2 any combination of such means
will be used to cause the person to engage in a commercial sex act, or that the
person has not attained the age of 18 years and will be caused to engage in a
commercial sex act, shall be punistadprovided in subsection (b).
§ 1591(a) (emphasis added). Notably, the term, “veritis explicitly defned in § 1591(e)(6):

(e) In this section:

(6) The term “venture” means any group obtar more individuals associated in
fact, whether or not a legal entity.

§ 1591(e)(6). Also of note, Congress appealsate confined this definition only to § 159%ee

id. (“In this section . . [t]he term ‘venture’ means any graefgwo or more indiiduals associated

in fact, whether or not a legal entity.” (emplsaatded)). In fact, neither 88 1589 nor 1595 define
“venture.” InAfyarg the Sixth Circuit concluded that thppropriate definitn of “venture” was
not provided solely by 8§ 1591(e)(6), or by the camnndefinition of “venture” in Black’s Law or
Random House Webster’'s Unabridg#dtionaries. 63F. App’x at 279, 284.Instead, the court
concluded that “venture” in 8 1591 isfohed as a “sex-trafficking ventureld. at 285. To arrive

at this definition, the court drewpon a principle of statutory im@retation that “when interpreting

a statute, [a court will] ‘considerot only the bare meaning of thetical word or phrase but also
its placement and purpose in the statutory schenh. &t 284 (quotinddolloway v. United States
526 U.S. 1, 6 (1999)). Applyingithprinciple, the Sixth Circuit concluded that it must consider

not only the definition in § 1591)), but also the “context & 1591(a)(2), which specifies ‘a
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venture which has engaged in an act describedlation of paragraph (1)i.e., sex trafficking.”

Id. at 284-85 (quoting 8 1591(a)(2)). Thus, the court found “its ‘placement and purpose’ in §
1591(a)(2) modify its ‘bare meaningi § 1591(e)([6]),” wich led the court to conclude that the
proper definition is limited ta “sex-trafficking venture.”ld.

The USOC takes two approaches to incorporatiiygres definition into this case. It first
suggests “venture” in 88 1589(b) and 1595(a) medfsex-trafficking veture,” just as thafyare
court held it does in § 1591. USOC'’s Mot. Disn8issBut | do not find thisrgument persuasive.
TheAfyarecourt’s conclusion that “veare” in 8 1591(a)(2) meansés-trafficking venture” was
founded on its “placement and purpose” in § 1591—s#wion creating liabily for acts of sex
trafficking. Here, Plaintiffs’ claims arérought under 8§ 1589, whictioes not prohibit sex
trafficking. Rather, it createsability for “[w]hoever knowingly povides or obtains the labor or
services of a person” by certain enumeratezhms (discussed later in this Recommendation).
8 1589(a). Thus, the Sixth Circugttationale for its definition ad “venture” in 8 1591 cannot be
reasonably applied to the defion in § 1589(b), which signifantly differs from § 1591.

The USOC'’s second approach, proposed only fgyence, is to suggest that “venture” in
§ 1589(b) means a “forced labor ventureSeeUSOC’s Reply 2 (“The theory of knowingly
benefiting from participation in #orced laborventure also fails.” (emphasis added)). The
USOC'’s logic for proposing this definition is self-apparent: sinceAtyare court concluded
“venture” in 8 1591(a)(2) must mean “sex traffiodg venture” due to its placement in a section
that prohibits sex traffickingg32 F. App’x at 284-85, the termémture” in a section prohibiting
forced labor (among other things) must mean tleatwre” in that sectiors defined as a “forced
labor venture.” However, no court of whichain aware has endorsed this definition, and the

USOC cites to none.
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Determining whether | should apply the USO@tsposed definition requires an analysis
of § 1589(b). That subsection creates liability for “[w]hoever knowingly . . . benefits . . . from
participation in a venture” whichas obtained forced labor or siees in violation of § 1589(a).

§ 1589(b). Under the USOC'’s deifion, 8§ 1589(b) creates liakiyf only if a party knowingly
benefits from participation in a forced labor fsesumably, forced services) venture. The USOC
argues that “the element of ‘paipation[]’ ... requires alledgeons of ‘specific conduct that
further[s] the purported forced labor venture.” @S’s Reply 3. It cites to four cases to support
its position, but these cases are distinguishaltleainthey resolve alms under § 1589(a), which
creates liability for the party that obtains fedclabor or services, ngt1589(b), which creates
liability for a party that knowingl participates in a venture.

The USOC relies on the following cases: Mgnocal v. GEO Group, Inc113 F. Supp.
3d 1125 (D. Colo. 2015); (2pwino v. CoreCivic, In¢g.No. 17-CV-1112 JLS (NLS), 2018 WL
2193644 (S.D. Cal. May 14, 2018); @®@jhikari v. Daoud & Partners697 F. Supp. 2d 674 (S.D.
Tex. 2009); and (4Nunag-Tanedo v. East Baton Rouge Parish School B@&@ F. Supp. 2d
1134 (C.D. Cal. 2011). USOC's Rg 3. Two of these caseBlénocalandNunag-Tanedpdo
not involve claims brought und&r1589(b), but consider only claims for direct liability under
§ 1589(a). SeeMenocal 113 F. Supp. 3d at 1131-38ynag-Tanedo790 F. Supp. 2d at 1143-
46. The other case®©Wino and Adhikari) include claims broughtinder § 1589(a) and the
“knowingly benefit” provision, buheither court found it necessary to perform an analysis of the
sufficiency of the pleadings solely under the “bf#nfrom participation in a venture” provision.
SeeOwing, 2018 WL 2193644, at *13 (stating that thaiptiffs “utilize” the benefit prong of
§ 1595(a)); Adhikari, 697 F. Supp. 2d at 684-8boncluding that the pintiffs alleged the

defendant “actively participated in and knowinglgnefited from a venture that involved forced
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labor and trafficking”). The USOC proffers tleespinions for support of its argument that, for it
to be liable under § 1589(b), Plaffgimust allege it engaged aonduct that would also make it
liable as the principalunder 8 1589(a). USOC'’s Reply 3 (“The SAC includes no comparable
allegations [to the four cited cases] as te thSOC.”). But this iterpretation would render
§ 1589(b) redundant, and courts should not inteipratute so as to make an entire provision
redundant. Walters v. Metro. Educ. Enters., In&19 U.S. 202, 209 (1997)Statutes must be
interpreted, if possibldép give each word some operative effectkiingys v. United State485
U.S. 759, 778 (1988) (noting the “cardinal rulestatutory interpretatin that no provision should
be construed to be entirely redundant”). d¢lae to adopt the USOC’s proposed definition.
When faced with interpreting a statutoryntethe legislature has not defined, the Tenth
Circuit instructs that courts “begby looking to théanguage of the statuéad giv[ing] the words
used ‘their ordinary meaning.U.S. v. Markey393 F.3d 1132, 1136 (10th Cir. 2004) (quoting
United States v. Plott847 F.3d 873, 876 (10th Cir. 2003)). Adtiogly, | find it proper here to
adopt the common definition of “venture.” Notgpin interpreting § 1589(b), at least one other

court has adopted the definition of “venture” fr@tack’s Law Dictionary: “‘an undertaking that
involves risk,” and igypically associated ith ‘a speculative comarcial enterprise.””’Bistline v.
Jeffs No. 2:16-CV-788 TS, 2017 WL 108039, at *10 (mah Jan. 11, 2017) (citing Black’s Law
Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)). IBistline, the court concluded that an alleged relationship between
a defendant and a law firm that provided the de#mt legal services was insufficient to allege
that a venture existed under 8 1589(ljl.. at *9-10. In so concting, the court found that

“[n]either ‘participation’ nor ‘enture’ has been defined in tbentext of 18 U.S.C. § 1589(b).”

Id. at *10. Interestingly, the court came todtenclusion after the Sixth Circuit decidééyare
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but neither adopted its definition nor cited to theecaRather, in the absence of controlling law,
the court resorted to the term’s common da&éin as instructed by the Tenth Circuit.

In this case, | am facediti a term that has not been defined by Congress or the Tenth
Circuit and, thus, I will give thevord its ordinary meaning: “[aJandertaking that involves risk,”
especially “a speculative commercial enterptigglack’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

4. Elements of a Civil Claimnder 18 U.S.C.88 1589(b) & 1595(a)

Intertwined with the question of the defiomi of “venture” in § 1589(b) is the question of
the elements to state a claim under that subsecliormost effectively diculate my resolution
of the question, | find it helpful to compareetprovision to § 1589(a). Those two subsections
provide in relevant part:

Whoever knowingly provides or obtainsethabor or servicesf a person by any
one of, or by any combinain of, the following means—

§ 1589(a).
Whoever knowingly benefits, financially @y receiving anythingf value, from
participation in a venture which has engagethe providing oobtaining of labor
or services by any of the means describeslibsection (a), knawng or in reckless

disregard of the fact that the ventures lemgaged in the providing or obtaining of
labor or services by any of such measll be punished gsovided in subsection

(d).
8§ 1589(b).

As | will discuss below, | find the followg are the elements necessary to establish a
violation of 8 1589(b) of the TVPA:

(1) the party knowingly padipated in a venture;

(2) the party knowingly benefitted from the venture;

(3) the venture has engagedtive providing orobtaining of laboror services in
violation of the TVPA; and
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(4) the party knew or recklessly disregatdle fact that the venture has engaged
in the providing or obtaining cfuch labor or services.

The simplest form of this claim would inw@ two individuals: Peson A and Person B.
These two people enter into a venture—a sl commercial enterprise. The venture does
well and Person A benefits financially from iDuring this time, Person B uses the venture to
obtain the services of Person Cthyeat of force, in violatioof the TVPA. Person A knows of
Person B’s conduct. Nevertheless, Person Aigoes to participate in—and benefit from—the
venture.

At this point there are only two possible esdrom this example. Either Person A is
already liable for violating § 1589(b)—and isilivliable to Person C through 8 1595—or he is
not. If not, then some further conduct by Per8ois necessary to be liable under the TVPA’s
forced labor statute.

By the definition the USOC suggests, Perdois not liable under the scenario without
some further conduct. The USQ@uld argue that Person A mot liable until he engages in
“specific conduct that furthers” the forced labaspect of the venture, which is required in
subsection (a). USOC’s Reply 3 (alteration omitted.the extent he engages in such “specific
conduct,” he would be directlyable under § 1589(a), just &denocal Owino, Adhikari, and
Nunag-Tanedalemonstrate. As | discussed above, | will not read § 1589(b) to be redundant of
§ 1589(a), and the elements of a § 1589(@)chre those | justientified above.

B. Plaintiffs’ Claims

Having addressed preliminary mattersedidy the present motions, | now address
Defendants’ arguments that each claim fails uitlde 12(b)(6). For each claim, I will identify

the time period in which such claimasailable, if it is plausibly stated.
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1. Claim 3: Gabriela Joslin against Steven Lopez
Claim would be valid: May 4, 2008 — May 4, 2018
Gabriela Joslin asserts the third claim against Steven Lopez pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
88 1589(a) and 1595(a). SAC 11 756—6@ction 1589(a) provides:

(a) Whoever knowingly provides obtains the labor or séces of a person by any
one of, or by any combinain of, the following means—

(1) by means of force, threats of der physical restrainor threats of
physical restraint to thaterson or another person;

(2) by means of serious harm or theeaf serious harm to that person or
another person;

(3) by means of the abuse or threatealedse of law or legal process; or
(4) by means of any scheme, planpattern intended to cause the person
to believe that, if that person did nmerform such laboor services, that
person or another person would suffer serious harm or physical restraint,
shall be punished as pided under subsection (d).
§ 1589(a). Section 1595(a)gwides the civil remedy.

To state this claim, Ms. Joslin muslegle Steven Lopez “knowingly obtained” her
“services” by a prohibited means. 8§ 1589(&8he Lopez Defendants argue the SAC does not
allege anyone forced Ms. Joslin to competahentaekwondo team. Lopez Defs.” Mot. Dismiss
9. However, this argument misunderstands therreaof Plaintiffs’ forced services claims.
Nowhere in the SAC do Plaintiftdlege they were forced to mpete or participate in tackwondo
training or competitions. Plaintiffs’ forced serviadaims derive from the (coerced or physically
forced) sexual services the Lopez Defendants allegedly obtained from Pla&é@Resp. 20.

The question presented by Mssliw's allegations is whetheteven obtained her sexual

services in a manner that vieatthe TVPA. Ms. Joslin alleg€it was clear to [her]” at a
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tournament in Germany in 2006 that Steven wWadt agree to be hepach unless she had sex
with him. SeeSAC {1 610-22. She alleges she continued to “allow Steven to have sexual
intercourse with her for the remainder of her career in taekwoitdd,'622, which ended in 2010,

id. 1 624. As | have already dissed, this purportedly consenssekual intercouesis plausibly
alleged to be a “service” as that terndéfined in the TVPA and 18 U.S.C. § 1589(8ge supra
Section I.A.2. Further, the SAC alleges timebirls, because some of the alleged sexual conduct
occurred after May 4, 2008.

The remaining issue is whether the SAC pibly alleges Stevenbtained Ms. Joslin’s
services via means prohibited§rn589(a)(1)—(4). Those subgeaos prohibit obtaining services
by “force” or “threat of force,” 8§ 1589(a)(1), “bmeans of serious harm or threats of serious
harm,” § 1589(a)(2), by “threatenedbuse of law or legal prosg” § 1589(a)(3), or “means of
any scheme, plan, or pattern imtied to cause the person to éed that, if thaperson did not
perform such labor or servicebat person or another person wbsliffer serious harm or physical
restraint,” § 1589(a)(4). Of those, the only sdi®n that could potentiglsupport Ms. Joslin’s
claim is by means of “serious harmThat term is defied in § 1589(c)(2):

The term “serious harm” means anyrma whether physical or nonphysical,

including psychological, finamal, or reputational harm, that is sufficiently serious,

under all the surrounding circumstanceg,dmpel a reasonable person of the same

background and in the same circumstancgsetéorm or to continue performing

labor or services in ordéo avoid incurring that harm.

8§ 1589(c)(2).

Under8 1589(a)(2),the threat of harm must serious” United States v. Dan®52 F.3d

1160, 1170 (9th Cir. 2011) (emphasis addetyection 1589 is ‘intended to addressrious

trafficking, or cases where traffieks threaten harm to third persons, restrain their victims without

physical violence or injury, or thagen dire consequences by meather than overt violence.”
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Muchira v. Al-Rawaf850 F.3d 605, 618 (4th Cir.) (quotiBgnn 652 F.3d at 1170%ert. denied

138 S. Ct. 448 (2017). Congress intended § 158@dceas “not only where . . . victims are kept

in service througlovert beatings, but also . . . [through] metbtle means . . ..” H.R. Rep. No.
106-939, at 101 (2000) (Conf. Rep.). For exampl& thanny is led to believe that children in

her care will be harmed if she leaves the home” or “where children . . . face extreme nonviolent
and psychological coercion (eigolation, denial of sleep, and other punishmentk).”

Here, Plaintiffs argue Ms. diin has satisfied her pleadibgrden to support a § 1589(a)
claim by alleging she acquiesced to performing skeseraices for the Lopez Defendants, because
she feared “serious harm.” §e 18-19. Plaintiffs allege thaye “young and vulirable” athletes
with Olympic aspirations who are “isolated frdireir homes, their parents, their friends, [and]
their famillies].” SAC 1 126. Wis. Joslin] alleges that sheitially acquiesced to Steven’s
demand for sexual services because he requireblefere he would act as her coach.” Resp. 19
(citing SAC ¢ 620). She further alleges Stewas a “demigod” in the taekwondo community.
SAC 1 623. Finally, she characterizbe harm she would incur $he refused to have sex with
Steven as “serious reputational harm.” Resp. 19.

These allegations do not clogehirror the harms Congress statedought to address or
to those opinions finding factual disputes about Wwaiethe plaintiffs actually feared serious harm.
See, e.gGuobadia v. Irowal03 F. Supp. 3d 325, 336 (E.D.N.Y. 20{fmding a factual dispute
as to whether a plaintiff “understood that she &madption to leave the hwe and/or believed that
she had to work for the [d]eferuts or she would be deported subject to various forms of
abuse”);Elat v. Ngoubene993 F. Supp. 2d 497, 529 (D. Md. 2014) (finding a sufficient dispute
of material fact as to whether the “[p]laintfmained with [d]efendants voluntarily”). Still, no

Defendant in this case argues that the alleged “serious harm” is insufficient as a matter of law to
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support a claim under the TVPA. Further, | amprasented with (ndrave | found) binding law
identifying the “minimum for conduct #t is actionable under the [TVPA]IU. at 525. As such,
| find that Ms. Joslin plausibly alleges her claimamgt Steven Lopez. Therefore, | respectfully
recommend the Lopez Defendanotion to Dismiss Claim 3 bdenied
2. Claim 4: Gabriela Joslin against USAT

Claim would be valid: December 23, 2008 — May 4, 2018

Ms. Joslin asserts the fourth claim agalhSAT under 18 U.S.C. 88 1589(b) and 1595(a).
SAC 11 761-67. As | idenigfd in Section I.A.4upra the elements to state this claim are:

(1) USAT knowingly participated in a venture;

(2) USAT knowingly benefitted from the venture;

(3) the venture has engagedtive providing orobtaining of laboror services in
violation of the TVPA; and

(4) USAT knew or recklessly disregardee tlact that the venture has engaged in
the providing or obtaining afuch labor or services.

USAT does not dispute thatetlfSAC alleges its fationship with Steven Lopez (a USAT
athlete through the relevameriods alleged in thisase) is a venture, andetheart of the allegations
in the SAC is that the nature of the relatimpsamong athletes, the NGBand the USOC is a
venture. Taking the Plaintiffs’llagations as true, for the athlete, participation in the Olympic
venture can mean direct “fumdj, health insurance, tuition grants, media and marketing
opportunities, career services and performdrased monetary rewards.” SAC 106 (quoting
United States Olympic Committee, TEAMUSAgothttps://www.teamusa.org/About-the-USOC
(last visited February 12019)). For the USOC, the amateur etiblindustry is “big business.”
Id. 7 103. It begins with the guorate sponsorships that generate “hundreds of millions of dollars

of additional revenue” for the USOQd. § 111. “The USOC does nothing to earn any of the
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revenue that flows into its bank accounts gwsar. Without Team USA’s Olympic athletes
competing for the United States, the US®@Quld not earn any revenue . . .1d. 1 113. Much

of the USOC's revenue goes toward funding NGBRich use the funds for operational budgets
and the salaries of their employedd. I 175 (citing Eli Bremer et al., Reducing Financial Waste
& Improving Governance: Proposed Reformsthe U.S. Olympic Committee 12 (2018)).
“Olympic athletes and coaches are involved tommercial industry thas constantly infused
and commingled with money, contracts, and tergery participant (athletes, coaches, USAT,
and the USOC) is a commercial adbound by contracts and agreementsl”| 104. Thus, both
parties assume risk in this enterprise. The athbdtes the risk of competing to obtain the direct
funding and health insurance that can accampa spot on Team USA, not to mention the
endorsements that may follow. The institutions gtva an athlete with thrisk that he or she
may not generate the corporate sponsorshipséne¢ as part of their funding. SAC 1 109 (“The
USOC receives no federal funding but avera®@30 million in annual income derived largely
from marketing and sponsorships, as it holddwesive rights to the Olympic mark and related
symbols in the United States.”). | conclutleese allegations plausibly establish that the
relationship between Stevewphez and USAT is a venture.

Second, USAT does not dispute that it knowynigénefitted from itgelationship with
Steven Lopez. The allegations reflect thav8h competed for USAT in the 2016 Olympic games
and 2017 World Championshiptd. 1 232, 252. Thus, USAT benefitted from this relationship
well within the period that the claim is availabl€hird, | find that theSAC plausibly alleges the
venture engaged in obtaining Ms. Joslin’s labosenwvices. As | discussed in Claim 3, the SAC

plausibly alleges Steven obtained Ms. Joslin’sisesvin violation of the TVPA. When he did
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so, he was acting on behalf of the venture. Thabut for the venture, Steven would not have
obtained—nor have beenlalto obtain—Ms. Joslis sexual services.

Finally, the SAC plausibly alleges USAT knewrecklessly disregarded that Steven had
obtained the services Blaintiffs before it benefitted frortihe venture in 2016. The SAC alleges
“USAT began an investigation of the Lopeatirers in 2014,” SAC § 217, and “USAT hired an
investigator [Mr. Alperstein] in March 2015exgifically to focus on the Lopez brotherg]” I 269.
Admittedly, these allegations support a conclusion that USAT gained knowledge that Steven
obtained sexual services well aftes conduct occurred. But, tifiéct that USAT may not have
known about Steven’s conduct until long after it hadsed does not protect USAT from the reach
of the TVPA. See Nunag-Taned@90 F. Supp. 2d at 1147 (noting tlbroad reach of the TVPA
and the broad class of individuals whom it prtg8®c The statute does naquire that “whoever
knowingly benefits” from a ventuteave knowledge shortly after the alleged abuse occurs, or even
of the specific victim of the abuse. It crealiebility simply for knowingly benefitting from a
venture “which that person knew sinould have known has engageainact in violation of [the
TVPAL" § 1595(a). Thus, Ms. Joslin has pldagistated a claim against USAT under § 1589(b),
and | respectfully recommend that USAT’s Motion to Dismiss Claim deloéed

3. Claim5: GabrielaJoslinagainst Steven Lopez and USAT
Claim would be valid: May 4, 2008 — May 4, 2018

Ms. Joslin asserts the fifth claim agdir&even Lopez and USAT under 18 U.S.C.
88 1590(a) and 1595(a). SAC 11 756-60. Section 1590 prohibits trafficking with respect to forced
labor:

Whoever knowingly recruits, harborsamsports, provides, or obtains by any

means, any person for labor or servicesiatation of this chapter shall be fined
under this title or imprisoned notore than 20 years, or both.
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§ 1590(a). Section 1595(a)gwides the civil remedy.

The critical dispute among tiparties centers on the word “for” in 8 1590(a), which creates
liability only if a pary knowingly recruits, hadrs, transports, provides, or obtains a pefson
her forced labor or services. The Lopez Defatslargue that nothing the SAC suggests the
Plaintiffs were transportetbr the alleged sexual services. Instead, they argue that they were
recruited and transported “ttrain, improve their skill sets, and compete in Taekwondo
tournaments . . ..” Lopez Defs.” Mot. Dismiss BPlaintiffs, at least partily, concede this point.
They recognize that, “[y]es, Plaifis joined USAT and worked with the Lopez brothers to train,
improve their skills, and compete in taekwondo taments.” Resp. 23. Still, they argue that
while “there may have been other purposes ferLihpezes recruiting Plaintiffs, i.e., to train and
coach them to win competitions,aiitiffs[] were also recruitedpecifically so they could and
would provide sexual servicesld. In pertinent part, Black’s lva Dictionary defines “for” as
“for benefit of.” Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Therefore, Plaintiffs’ § 1590(a) claim
will proceed if they allege a Defendant recrdjtearbored, transported, provided, or obtained Ms.
Joslin “for benefit of” he coerced sexual services.

I. SteverLopez

First, Plaintiffs argue that Steven “recruitédr when he offered tooach her at the event
in Germany. Resp. 22. Eventifie, however, the conduct occutia 2006, which is outside the
statutory period.

Alternatively, Plaintiffs argue the claim agaisieven survives, because he trafficked Ms.
Joslin as he “continued . . . [to] transport[] her for continuing to provide sexual services.”

After the 2006 incident in Germany, the SAC’'sianing allegations of sexual conduct between
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the two state: “[Ms. Joslin] continued to allow Steven to have sexual intercourse with her for the
remainder of her career in taeckwond. . . [Ms. Joslin] last had sex with Steven in 2010.” SAC
19 622—-24. Additionally, Plaintiffs allege Stevé&mansported [Ms. Joslin] to . . . various
tournaments and training centers between 2006 and 201d).”f 772. Taking Plaintiffs’
allegations as true, | am persuaded that theygibly allege Steven écruit[ed], harbor[ed],
transport[ed], provide[d], or obtged] by any means, [Ms. Joslin]rftabor or services ...."
§ 1590(a). Whether Steven transpdmiés. Joslin for her sexual séres or for other reasons is a
guestion for a jury, but the allegat®in the SAC plausibly state thkiaim. Therefore, | find this
claim survives, and | respectfully recommend the Lopez Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Claim 5
bedenied
il. USAT

Plaintiffs argue U&T is “guilty as aprincipal for the trafficking of [Ms. Joslin] from late
2008 until 2010, as it provided her to Steven aaddported her to various training centers and
tournaments knowing or in recklessmigard of the fact that heowld continue to use her for her
sexual services.” Resp. 22 (emphasis added)wener, this argument includes inferences that
are not present in the SAC. As just discussedaliegations of sexual contact between Ms. Joslin
and Steven after 2006 are limited to thkkowing, quoted intheir entirety:

622. [Ms. Joslin] then continued to alldteven to have sexual intercourse with

her for the remainder of heareer in taekwondmut of fear of the Lopez brothers
and in particular, to Jeanjw made it clear to her thatestvas to “cater to Steven.”

624. [Ms. Joslin] last had sex with Steven in 2010.

SAC 11 622-24.

33



In the entirety of the SAC, | see no allegatthat USAT (as the principal) transported Ms.
Joslinfor Steven to obtain sexual services from her. It simply does not #igggSAT sent Ms.
Joslin to taekwondo events “for” her to perform séseavices for Steven Lopez. Plaintiffs argue
that USAT knew “of the fact thgSteven] would continue to use her for her sexual services.” But
the statute makes clear that liglgias a principal requires ath USAT “knowingly” transported
Ms. Joslin “for” forced labor or services. 89Ka). There is no sudilegation in the SAC.
Therefore, | respectfully recommend USAM®tion to Dismiss Claim 5 against it lgeanted.

4, Claim 8: Amber Means against Steven Lopez
TVPA Claim would be valid: May 4, 2008 — May 4, 2018
18 U.S.C. § 2255 ClaimFebruary 14, 2008 — May 4, 2018 (discussed below)

Ms. Means asserts the eighth claim agaBteven Lopez under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1589(a),
1595(a), and 2255. SAC 11 789-93. | will first addtesssufficiency of her TVPA claim, then
address the timeliness of her § 2255(a) claim.

i. 18U.S.C.§ 1589(a)

To support the § 1589(a) claim, Ms. Means nallege Steven Lopez tdined her services
by threat of serious harmithin the statutory period. The alldgms of sexual services within the
SAC as they pertain to Ms. Means include thaev®n Lopez had vaginal sex with [her] (she lost
her virginity to him), in February 2008, whenesivas seventeen.” SAC { 684. In addition, the
two began “having an open sexual relationshiplarch 2008,” when she was still sevente&h.

1 685. Further, “[w]hile attending USOC abk&AT sponsored events in 2008, Steven had sex
with [Ms. Means] in sevetatates and countrieslt. § 688. Also, at a private party in June 2008,
Steven allegedly put a drug in Ms. Meadsnk that caused her to pass old. §{ 691-95. Ms.

Means alleges he raped her while she was unconsdibu$ 695.
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As | have already discussedg¢huallegations of sexual condwre within the definition of
“services” in the TVPA.See supr&ection [.A.2. Second, the thre&serious harm that Plaintiffs
allege they perceived appliegually to all Plaintiffs.SeeSAC { 708 (“Like the other Plaintiffs,
[Ms. Means] felt that if she anged the Lopez brothers, she woudaté retaliation . .. .”). Thus,
the SAC at least plausibly alleges that Steven obtained sexual services by threat of “serious harm”
necessary to support aatch under § 1589(a)(2)See supréection 1.B.1. As such, any portion
of the claim asserting violative conduct beftMay 4, 2008, is time-barde but the claim based
on conduct after May 4, 2008 will survive, ana$pectfully recommend the Lopez Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Claim 8, to the extiit is asserted under § 1589(a),demied

i.  18.US.S.C§2255(a)

Claim 8 also seeks recovery based oviddation of § 1589(aunder § 2255(a). That
section provides:

Any person whowhile a minor was a victim of a violatio of section 1589 . . . of

this title and who suffers personal injuryasesult of such viation, regardless of

whether the injury occurred while such person was a minor, may sue in any

appropriate United Statesddiict Court and shall rever the actual damages such
person sustains or liquidated dayea in the amount of $150,000 . . ..
§ 2255(a) (emphasis added).

A minor is defined as “anperson under the age of eightegears[.]” 8§ 2256(1). Ms.
Means argues that 8§ 22pBrmits her to bring claims for vidlans that occurred while she was a
minor. Specifically, she alleges Steven haxl wéh her in 2008 while she was a minor. Ms.
Means’ birthday is May 7, 1990. Pls.” StatemenhMNDpp’n to Def. Jean & Steven Lopez’s Req.
Judicial Notice 2. Thus, Ms. Means turned eighteen on May 7, 2008.

As | previously discussed, the applicable gw@tof limitations is the present statute of

limitations, and claims are timely under that s&ts long as they were never expired under a
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previously existing limitations periodsee supr&ection I.LA.1. The presestatute of limitations
for a § 2255 claim is:

Statute of limitations.-- Any action comnead under this sectn shall be barred
unless the complaint is filed—

(2) not later than 10 years after theedan which the victim reaches 18
years of age.

§ 2255(b). Plaintiffs filed th&AC on May 4, 2018. Therefor®|s. Means asserted her claims
for conduct that occurred while was a minor wittén years of the date she reached eighteen, and
her claims are timely under the present statute of limitations. Theajubstiomes whether those
claims were ever expired.

According to the SAC, all allegations séxual conduct between Steven and Ms. Means,
while she was a minor, occurred in “late 2007” antye2008. She alleges thatfter” an incident
in “late 2007,” she “performed oral sex on” Sdav SAC 1 677-83. Ms. Means also alleges, “In
February 2008, . . . Steven Lopezdhaaginal sex with Amber (she Idser virginity to him) . . .,”
SAC { 684, and they “began having an opexual relationship in March 2008 . .id" 1 685.

In 2007 and 2008, 8§ 2255 carried a six-year linutes period. Act of Oct. 18, 1986, Pub.
L. No. 99-500, § 703(a), 100 Stat. 1783, 1783—74"83—75. That limitations period existed
until March 7, 2013, when Congress amended itémg/ear limitations p@d. Violence Against
Women Reauthorization Act of 2013, Pub.No. 113-4, § 1212(a)(2), 127 Stat. 54, 143. On
March 7, 2013 (the date of the amiment), Ms. Means’ claims based on conduct that occurred in

late 2007 and early 2008 were still timely under theimus six-year limitations period. Congress
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amended the limitations period again on February 14, 2@48add a provision allowing an
individual to bring a claim for wilations of the statute while amar “not later than 10 years after
the date on which the victim reaches 18 yearagef.” Protecting Young Victims from Sexual
Abuse and Safe Sport Authaaiion Act of 2017, Pub. L. & 115-126, sec. 102, § 2, 132 Stat.
318, 320. On February 14, 2018, it appears portadngls. Means’ claim had expired. For
example, any conduct that occurred in “late 200duld have been expired on February 14, 2018,
under the ten-year limitations jp@d. However, any conductahoccurred after February 14,
2008, would now still be timely, because the amtadccurred while Ms. Means was a minor, and
she had brought her claim within ten years afteeighteenth birthday. HEnefore, some of these
claims are timely as well.

While factual disputes exist as to when the conduct specificallyreccin February 2008,
and portions of the claim are time#ed, it is not proper to dismit®e entire claim when it is not
plain from the face of the complaitinat the claim is expiredAldrich v. McCulloch Props., Inc.
627 F.2d 1036, 1041 n.4 (10th Cir. 1980) (notingt th claim may be dismissed based on the
statute of limitation in a Rule 12(b) motion “whtre dates given in the complaint make clear that
the right sued upon has been extinguished”).erétore, | respectfullyecommend the Lopez

Defendants’ Motion to Disms Claim 8 under § 2255 loenied

2 Plaintiffs twice make the argument that § 2255tatute of limitations was amended in 2015.
First Plaintiffs argue, “By 2015, thetatute made clear that the lintitens period was the later of
ten years from the date of discoveyinjury or ten years after ¢hage of majority.” Resp. 12
n.68 (citing Ex. 2). Plaintiffs repeat this argurharpage later when they state, “By 2015, while
her claim was still unexpired, the period was edt to its present ten years after the age of
majority . . . .” Id. at 13. However, § 2255 was not ameh@e2015. Plaintiffs’ own exhibit to
the Response reflects this. sthows that § 2255 maintainéide same limitations period from
March 7, 2013, to February 13, 2018eeResp. Ex. 2 at 5, ECF No. 139-2.
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5. Claim 9: Amber Means against USOC and USAT

Claim would be valid: December 23, 2008 — May 4, 2018

Ms. Means asserts the ninth claim aghithe USOC and USAT under 18 U.S.C.
88 1589(b) and 1595(a), alleging they benefitted fparticipation in a venture with the Lopez
Defendants. SAC {1 794-805. As | discussed itidetA.4, the elements to state this claim
are:

(1) the institution knowingl participated in a vente with Steven Lopez;

(2) the institution knowingly beefitted from the venture;

(3) the venture has engagedtive providing orobtaining of laboror services in
violation of the TVPA; and

(4) the institution knew or recklesslysdegarded the fact that the venture has
engaged in the providingr obtaining of such labor or services.

First, as | have already disgsed, the SAC plausibly statbat a relationship between an
athlete and the USAT is a ventudearrive at the same conclusion when analyzing the relationship
between an athlete and the USCB2eSAC 1 105 (“Each Olympic athlete has a direct commercial
relationship with the USOC, which imposes & 6§ commercial terms’ upon each athlete as a
precondition for participating.” (footnote omitted)). Second, each institution knowingly
benefitted from the venture; Steven papited in the 2016 Olympics in taekwondial. T 232.
Third, Ms. Means plausibly alleges the venture oleigimer services in viation of the TVPA. As
| already discussed, the allegatioafiect that Steven obtained rexual services in violation of
the TVPA. When he did so, he was acting as agfatie venture; that is, but for the venture,
Steven could not have obtained sexual services from Ms. M&aessupréection 1.B.2. This

conclusion applies equally for thentare involving the USOC and USAT.
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Finally, | have already discugbkthat Plaintiffs plausibly &ge the USOC and USAT knew
or recklessly disregarded that the Lopez Ddénts were impermissiblybtaining these sexual
services. SAC 1 188 (“In 2006, Plaintiff [Ms. Meh] reported to the USOC her physical abuse
by Steven Lopez and sexual assault by Jeamz.apa Team USA event in Cairo, Egyptit);

1 191 (“In 2006, [Ms. Meloon] personally handeat written complaint to USOC employee Gary
Johansen.”). Plaintiffs also allege “[US@Bard member and eventual interim CEO] Susanne
Lyons had knowledge of the nhumerous complaoftsape and sexual assault made by female
taekwondo athletes against both Lopez brotheld.f 292;seeAdams v. Kinder-Morgan, Inc.
340 F.3d 1083, 1106 (10th Cir. 2003) (“The sciertttthe senior conting officers of a
corporation may be attributed the corporation itself to &gblish liability . . . .”).

The arguments by the USOC and USAT for dismissing the § 1589(b) claims are based on
a misunderstanding of this point. That is, thed@Sargues “the SAC laskany allegations tying
those purported ‘benefits’ to any alleged fordalor.” USOC'’s Reply 3. But this argument
misses the issue. Civil liability attaches whepagty “knowingly benefits . . . from participation
inaventure ....” §1595(a). Nothing in 8 1E95equires the party to befit from the labor or
services for liability to attach.

The USOC also argues that the “onlNegations post-dating 2008 (that Jean Lopez
disqualified PlaintiffMeans from a non-USOC tournameémt2010 and Steven Lopez assaulted
her at a private party in 2013)mo way involve the USOC.” U3C’s Reply 3—4. This argument,
again, misunderstands the prohititmnduct under the TVPA. TRE&OC need not be “involved”
in obtaining forced labor or services to be civilBble to a plaintiff claiming a TVPA violation.
As | just discussed, liability attaches when, urttie proper circumstances, the party “knowingly

benefits” from participation in a venture. The SAC alleges the USOC benefitted from a venture
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with Steven in 2016, when he competed in Rie games. For these reasons, | respectfully
recommend the USOC’s and USATVtions to Dismiss Claim 9 baenied
6. Claim 10: Amber Means against Steven Lopez
TVPA Claim would be valid: May 4, 2008 — May 4, 2018
18 U.S.C. § 2255 ClaimFebruary 14, 2008 — May 4, 2018

Amber Means asserts the tenth claim against Steven Lopez under 18 U.S.C. 88 1590(a),
1595(a) and 2255. SAC 1 806-811. This clamoires Ms. Means to allege Steveknowingly
recruit[ed] harbor[ed], transpoeil], provide[d], or obtain[ed] bgny means, any person for labor
or services . ..."” Sectid®255 provides a remedy for violations8 1590(a) whilehe victim was
a minor.

First, Plaintiffs allege Steven recruited N&eans from her home in Washington for sexual
services in 2003, when she was thirteen. Th€ SReges, “Amber first met Jean Lopez and
Steven Lopez when she attended one of thekwando camps at the University of Houston in
2003.” SAC 1 656. It alleges “Steven Lopez taokpecial interest in Amber at the 2003 camp;
he asked her how old she was and saeld be tall when she grew upld. 1 658. Later, “Jean
convinced Amber’s parents to move from Washingio Texas so that Aper could train at the
Lopez’s Elite Taekwondo school in Houstord.  662.

To the extent Plaintiffs rely on these allegations to demonstrate Steven “recruited” Ms.
Means in violation of § 1590(a), the events alteged to have occurred in 2003, which is well
outside the window for timely claims under eittg 1590 or § 2255, and any claim based on these
allegations mudbe dismissed.

Otherwise, Plaintiffs allege, “While atteing USOC and USAT sponsored events in 2008,

Steven Lopez had sex with [Ms. Means] in sevstates and countries.” SAC  688. Plaintiffs
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continue, “Steven Lopez knowinghgcruited . . . [Ms. Means] tdouston, Texas, to Cleveland,
Ohio, to Colorado Springs, Colorado, to Sugar Land, Texas, to Des Moines, lowa, to Beijing,
China, and to various other citiaad countries with thintention of forcindher into sexual labor
and services . . . Id. 1 808. And, the allegation that Stevaped Ms. Means after putting a drug
in her drink happened in June 2008. 11 691-95. As already discussed, | find that any claim
based on conduct that occurred after May 4, 2008, is timelyr uhdeTVPA. Furthermore,
conduct that occurred after lfre@ary 14, 2008, while Ms. Meamngas a minor is timely under
§ 2255. Therefore, | respectfullgcommend the Lopez Defendan#otion to Dismiss Claim 10
bedenied
7. Claim 13: Amber Means against Steven Lopez

Claim would be valid: February 14, 2008 through May 6, 2008 (date of unexpired claims until
Ms. Means reached the age of eighteen)

Ms. Means asserts the thirteenth cla@igainst Steven Lopez under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2242,
2421, 2422, 2423(a), 2423(b), 2423@nd 2255. SAC 11 824-33. Section 2255 provides a civil
remedy for “[a]ny person who, whike minor, was a victim of a viation” of the sections under
which this claim is asserted.

Steven Lopez challenges this claon statute of limitations grounds onlySeelLopez
Defs.” Mot. Dismiss 3—6, 11; Lopez Defs.” Ref@y7. | have already addressed this argument in
Section I.B.4.ii: the present statute of limitats on a § 2255(a) claim provides that Ms. Means
may bring a claim based on conduct that occuwhkile she was a minor, dong as she brings
the claim “not later than 10 years after the datewhich the victim reaches 18 years of age.”
§ 2255(b)(2). Since Ms. Means ased this claim within ten yearof her eighteenth birthday, she

has timely brought the claim. However, anytjwor of her claim basedn conduct that occurred
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before February 14, 2008 expired under the previaeishting statute, so she may not assert those
portions of the claim hereSee supr&ection 1.B.4.ii.

Ms. Means alleges that sexgahduct with Steven occurreafn “late 2007” until at least
June 2008. SAC 11 677-85. In this suit, she nsagraclaims based on conduct that occurred
from February 14, 2008 until she turned eighteeay 7, 2008. Pls.” Statement Non-Opp’n to
Def. Jean & Steven Lopez’s Req. Judicial MetR. Therefore, | respectfully recommend the
Motion to Dismiss this claim beenied

8. Claim 14: All Plainiffs against USOC and USAT

Claim would be valid: April 25, 2008 — April 25, 2018 i{ing of original Complaint)

All Plaintiffs assert the fourteenthaiin against USOC and USAT under 18 U.S.C.
88 1590(b), 1591(d), 1595(a), and 2255.CSH] 834-38. Section 1590(b) provides:

Whoeverobstructs attempts to obstrucbr in any way interfes with or prevents
the enforcement of this section, shall bbject to the penalties under section . . . .

8 1590(b) (emphasis added). Thestobction provision in § 1591(d3 identical in the relevant
part. Section 1595 providehe civil remedy.

To state a claim under the ohsttion provisions, Plaintiffs nat allege the institutional
Defendants “obstruct[ed], attempt[ed] to obstruct, or in any way interfere[d] with” the
“enforcement” of 88 1590(b) or 1591(d). The pemt first dispute concerning this claim is
whether the “obstruct[iofjof “enforcement of this sectiorhust be performed by a government
actor. Plaintiffs argue that such requiremeninot necessary, and “the plain, unambiguous
statutory language—applying to heever obstructs’—does not camt any such qualification.”
Resp. 31. In support of this argument, Plaintiffs citede v. HowargdNo. 1:11CV1105 LO/TRJ,

2012 WL 3834930, at *2 (E.D. Va. Aug. 7, 2012). Bhat case does naagport their position,

42



because the defendant in that case was fouobdiouct a “federal investigation” performed by a
government actorDoe v. Howargd No. 1:11-cv-1105, 2012 WL 38383, at *1 (E.D. Va. Sept.
4, 2012) (finding a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1590(b)).

Defendants argue that the obstructiontisas apply only to official government
investigations. Indeed, at least onleastcourt has found that obstruction girevate investigation
does not violate § 1591(dB5ee Jean-Charles v. Perlit237 F. Supp. 2d 276, 287-88 (D. Conn.
2013) (finding conduct taken togrent “Board members” fromtiscovering alleged sexual abuse
insufficient to state a claim under § 1591(d)). The USOC also citartinez v. Calimlim651
F. Supp. 2d 852 (E.D. Wis. 2009), which determitied a 8 1590(b) violation has been plausibly
alleged when an individual obstructed a federal investigaee. idat 864 (finding an allegation
that a defendant lied to a federal agent to gmévhim from locating a victim of trafficking
sufficient to state a claim under 8 1590). | havelocated, and Plaintiffs do not cite to, a single
case finding a violation of the TVPA for ohsttion of anything other than a government
investigation. Equally problemasl; Plaintiffs’ position containeo limiting principle. They do
not attempt to define what “obstruct[ion]” dénforcement” means in § 1590(b) if it is not
obstruction of a government invegttion. | find the opinion inJean-Charlespersuasive.
Obstruction of a private investgon is insufficient to state elaim of either 88 1590(b) or
1591(d).

USAT also argues that &htiffs’ 1590(b) and 8§ 1591(dglaims are subject to the
heightened requirement in Ruleb®(that a claim be plead withparticularity.” However, to
support this argument, USAT citesa®tring of cases that areaided on grounds unrelated to the

TVPA. USAT cites to no authity to suggest claims brought under 88 1590(b) and 1591(d) are
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subject to Rule 9(b), and it does not pearsiis argument in its Reply brieSeeUSAT’s Reply

12-13. For these reasons, USAT’s argument is unpersuasive.
Finally, with respect to the merits of the atai, Plaintiffs must allge the USOC and USAT

obstructed a government investigatof a TVPA violation.

i. UsoC

Plaintiffs suggest that the following argams support their clai against the USOC:
Despite having received written complginthat he had raped at least two
taekwondo athletes, USOC approved the submission, and in turn submitted Jean
Lopez’s name to the International Olgimn Committee as the head coach for the
2008 Olympics.

Resp. 34 (citing SAC 1 211).
USAT and USOC had no intention ofrting over the Lopez brothers to law
enforcement or removing them from tegort. Together, they purposefully drew
out [USAT’s] investigation from 2014 2018. This delay contravened USAT'’s
own bylaws.

Id. at 35 (footnotes omitted) (citing SAC 11 218, 222, 224).
USAT and the USOC worked together to obstruct, prevent and interfere with [the]
investigation of the Lopez brothers aewforcement of prohibitions on their pay-
to-play forced sexual services structuiihe defendants went so far as to suspend
the investigation so that the Lopez Ihvats could compete and coach at the 2016
Olympics in Rio and at thational Championships in 2017.

Id. (footnote omitted) (citing SAC 11 209, 222, 225-27).

USAT and USOC sheltered the Lopez brostfeom discipline and prosecution for
years, despite knowing of the crimirenduct they had been engaging in.

Id. (citing SAC { 225).
Lacking in any of these allegations is a tedtassertion that the USOC took any steps to

obstruct a governmental investigen of anything, lealone conduct that viated either 8 1590 or
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§ 1591. Indeed, no governmental actoprissent in Plaintiffs’ allegations.To the extent that
Plaintiffs allege the USOC delayed or eveniigieed with USAT's private investigation of the
Lopez Defendants, this is simply insufficientstate a claim under tlubstruction statuteslean-
Charles 937 F. Supp. 2d at 287-88 (finding it “imp#able that [the defendants] knowingly
sought to obstruct enforcement of the federaliggatriminalizing the commercial sex trafficking”
where allegations asserted that the defendmats steps to conceal evidence from a private
investigation). Therefore, | respectfully recoemd that the USOC’s Motion to Dismiss it from
Claim 14 begranted.
il. USAT

Analysis of the allegations against USAdads me to a different conclusion. These
allegations pertain specifically to the inveatign by Mr. Alperstein. The SAC alleges USAT
hired Mr. Alperstein in March 2015 to pursadlegations of sexual abuse and the Lopez
Defendants. SAC 1 217-219. Plaintiffs allegeBkecutive Director ofJSAT testified before
the Oversight and Investigations Subcommitteat Mr. Alperstein “operated without any
limitation on its budget, with no control by USPaekwondo as to who he should or should not
pursue ....” SAC 1 220 (quotiigxamining the Olympic Community’s Ability to Protect Athletes
from Sexual Abuse: Hearing Before the H. Sum. on Oversight and Intggtions of the H.
Comm. on Energy and Commer&é&5th Cong. 36 (2018) (statemenSteve McNally, Executive
Director of USAT) (unofficial transcript). Platiffs allege these statements were false, SAC
1 220, and provide factual allegatiadonsupport the conclusion; thelaim USAT secretly worked

behind closed doors “to make sure that the stigation against the Lopez [Defendants] was

3 The Court understands that the USOC isiaae entity based upon information presented by
its attorneys and its own website.
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delayed and obstructed because of their key rolif016 Olympics . ...” SAC § 226. Further,
Plaintiffs assert thatfter the 2016 Olympics, MAlperstein wrote an emiab Ms. Gilbert stating,
“Now that the Olympics are over and thinge aettling down, | want to get moving again on the
Steven Lopez disciplinary casé[.SAC | 235 (alteration in origal). This plausibly suggests
that Mr. McNally’s statement t@€ongress that Mr. Alerstein’s investigation was free from
control by USAT was false. Irfd that Congress & government actor, and false statements to
obstruct an investigation plausjtdllege a 8 1590(b) violatiorMartinez 651 F. Supp. 2d at 864
(E.D. Wis. 2009) (finding allegatiortBat an individual “lied to a téeral agent” sufficient to state
a claim under 8 1590). Therefore, | respettfubcommend that USAT’s Motion to Dismiss
Claim 14 bedenied
I. RICO Claim

Plaintiffs assert their civRacketeer Influenced and Copt Organizations Act (“RICO”)
claim against all Defendants under 18 I€.S88 1962(c) and 1962(d). Subsection 1962(c)
provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person emplalyly or associated with any enterprise

engaged in, or the activities of which exff, interstate or foreign commerce, to

conduct or participate, dirdg or indirectly, in the onduct of such enterprise’s

affairs through a pattern ohicketeering activity or diection of unlawful debt.
Subsection 1962(d) states “[i]t shall be unlawfulday person to conspire to violate” 8§ 1962(c).
Plaintiffs bring this claim undeg 1964(c), which provides a divemedy for “[a]ny person injured

in his business or properby reason of a violation afection 1962 . .. ."

A. Claim Under 8 1962(c)

The foundation of Plaintiffs’ RICO claim iselr allegation that “[a]t all relevant times,

the Defendants operated as an association-irefdetprise, which was formed for the purpose of
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stopping, hindering, and delaying aivestigations ofrad enforcement actions against the Lopez
brothers . . ..” SAC 1 846. Phiffs allege Defendants accomplished this by “making false and
corrupting statements that concealed the trtiereaf the sex abuse and exploitation committed
by the Lopez brothers and fatdlied and promoted by the US{PEand] [USAT] . . . .” Id.
Plaintiffs further allege “[tlhe Lopez Obstruati Enterprise formed in late 2014 or early 2015 as
[USAT] began to ‘investigate’ the s@buse of the Lopez brotherdd. { 847.

RICO provides a private right of action for imiiuals injured in their business or property
through a pattern of racketing activitjRobert L. Kroenlein Tr. esel. Alden v. Kirchhefer764
F.3d 1268, 1274 (10th Cir. 2014). “RICO is to be rbashadly[]’ and is tdbe liberally construed
to effectuate its remedial purposes.Plains Res., Inc. v. Gahl@82 F.2d 883, 887 (10th Cir.
1986) (citation omitted) (quotin§edima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Cd473 U.S. 479, 497-98 (1985)).
“The elements of a civil RICO claim are (¥)vestment in, control of, or conduct of (2) an
enterprise (3) througa pattern (4) of racketeering activityTal v. Hogan 453 F.3d 1244, 1261
(10th Cir. 2006).

However, a plaintiff may not bring a dvRICO claim unless ihas proper standing
required by the statute. “[RICQIso presents substantial hurdles for plaintiffs to overcome to
establish a proper claim.Deck v. Engineered Laminate®19 F.3d 1253, 1255 (10th Cir. 2003).
Specifically, “a plaintiff has standing to bring ad® claim only if he was injured in his business
or property by reasoaf the defendant’s violation of § 1962.d. at 1257. Standing has two
elements: (1) an injury to business or propesind (2) the injury was caused by the underlying
predicate violations. €2 Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex C&.3 U.S. 479, 496 (1985) (“[T]he plaintiff
only has standing if . . . he has been injuredisrbusiness or property liye conduct constituting

the violation.”). “Any recoverable damages ogmg by reason of a violeon of § 1962(c) will
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flow from the commission of the predicate actdd. at 497. Defendants guwe that Plaintiffs’
RICO claim fails, because they have not allegeg thave standing to Img the claim. | agree.

Before reaching the question of whether Pitinhave alleged RICQtanding, they first
argue they need not allege ajuily to “business or property,” because those terms are “found in
§ 1964(c) but not in 8 1964(a), wh broadly authorizemjunctive and other forms of equitable
relief.” Resp. 39. | disagreeThe civil remedy provision oRICO exists in § 1964(c), not
§ 1964(a), and the Supreme Court has not even reached the question of whether injunctive relief
is available to a civil RICO plaintiffRJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmi36 S. Ct. 2090, 2111
n.13 (2016) (“This Court has never decided whetheitable relief is available to private RICO
plaintiffs . . . .”). Still, inRJR Nabiscothe Court noted that any claim for equitable relief would
require a showing of injury to “bugess or property” in 8 1964(c)d. (“[A]ny claim for equitable
relief under RICO . .. is necesia foreclosed by our holdinghat § 1964(c)’s cause of action
requires a domestic injury to business or property.”). Thus, Plaintiffs cannot avoid the requirement
of alleging an injury to business or progesimply by seeking equitable relief.

Alternatively, Plaintiffs argue they haveffciently alleged an injury to “business or
property” for the claim to survive. Resp. 4@laintiffs identify threeharms they contend are
sufficient: (1) damage to reputation—potentiatlgusing lost income to those Plaintiffs who
currently work as taekwondo aches; (2) $50 in “money damages” each Plaintiff paid in
membership dues to USAT; and (3) the degton of Plaintiffs’ taekwondo careerkl. at 40—41.

As | will discuss below, none dhese injuries sufficidty create standing tbring a civil RICO
claim.

First, reputational harms, even those thay cause a loss of income, are not cognizable

“business or property” damageunder 8§ 1964(c). “Section 1964¢c)reference toinjury to
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“business or property” . . . cabif[RICQO’s private cause of actida particular kinds of injury—
excluding, for example, persoriajuries—[by which] Congress sigleal that the civil remedy is
not coextensive with § 1962’s substaatifcriminal] prohibitions . ...” Safe Streets All. v.
Hickenloopey 859 F.3d 865, 885 (10th Cir. 2017) (last alteration added) (qutiRgNabisco
136 S. Ct. at 2108). “[I]njury to . . . reputationguity and emotional damages are not the type of
injuries redressable by . . . RIG@ich are expressly limited to injes to ‘businessr property.”

Tal, 453 F.3d at 1254. Conversely, a plaintiff alfegshe incurred an injury that “interfere[d]
directly with [her] promised orantracted-for work . . . may have . . . allege[d] an injury that meets
the 8§ 1964(c) ‘business or property’ requiremer@dntana v. Cook Cty. Bd. of Revj@&x9 F.3d
614, 623 (7th Cir. 2012).

In Santanathe plaintiff, a “self-dscribed tax consultant,”llaged that a county review
board injured his reputatiohy purportedly defaming him tbugh television media, and he
allegedly lost income as a resuliee idat 617-19, 623. However, the Seventh Circuit found the
plaintiff had not alleged an injup “business or property” suffient to have standing to bring a
civil RICO claim, because “his alleged reputatiomgliry is personal, and &t is true even if it
could result in a loss of incomeld. at 623. The court noted that beuld have standing to bring
a claim if the defendants interfergdth his “promised or contraetl-for work as a consultant,”
but this was not something he alleged. The SévEntuit's conclusion is consistent with the
Tenth Circuit’s finding inTal that “injur[ies] to . . . reputatn, dignity and emotional damages are
not the type of injuries redred¢da by . . . RICO.” 453 F.3d at 1254.

The Tenth Circuit’s decision iDeckalso aligns withral. There, the court found that the
plaintiff's allegation he was fradulently induced into entering into a settlemagteement that

“limit[ed] the extent to which he could competéh” his former employer plausibly alleged an
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injury to his “business” as defined in RIC@49 F.3d at 1259. Other courts have arrived at the
same conclusionSee, e.gEvans v. City of Chicag@34 F.3d 916, 928 (7th Cir. 2006) (“Where
an employee is able to estahlithat he has been unlawfully ieved of a property right in
promised or contracted for wages, the courts e amenable to classifying the loss of those
wages as injury to ‘business or property.8yerruled on other groundslill v. Tangherlini 724
F.3d 965 (7th Cir. 2013).

Here, Ms. Gilbert and Ms. Joslin both allebey are currently taeckwondo coaches. Ms.
Gilbert alleges her ‘imfession and business depend om heputation in the taekwondo
community.” SAC 1 595. She alstleges the “denials of the Lopez brothers, which effectively
call her a liar, have dirdg harmed her businessld. Similarly, Ms. Josliralleges the “lack of
action by the USOC, USAT, and [SafeSport] causettién damage to [her] reputation and harmed
her business and professional reputatiolad.’ 648. However, neither &htiff alleges she lost
“promised or contracted-for work.” As such, ititselevant whether Platiffs “provide expert
testimony that the damages licled by these Defendants resulting from their pattern of
racketeering activity has harmed Plaintiffs arditie depressed wages from coaching and money
damages.” Resp. 42. The damages Plaintiffgalire “injur[ies] to [their] reputation” which
“are not the type of injuries reggsable by ... RICO . . . Tal, 453 F.3d at 1254. Among the
“substantial hurdles for plaintiff&o overcome to establish a proper claim” is a requirement that
“the plaintiff has suffered injury tbis business or property . . . Deck 349 F.3d at 1255. The
harms to reputation the Plaintifédlege are not harms to “busisesr property” asequired by
8§ 1964(c). Therefore, any claimdgal on this injury must fail.

Plaintiffs also argue th§50 annual membership fee each Plaintiff allegedly paid USAT

supports standing for the RICO claim. Howe\hbrs claim also fails, because Plaintiffs do not
50



allege they paid the dues as a result of the nlyidg predicate acts. One of the “substantial
hurdles” that a plaintiff mst clear to state a RICO claim invodsleading she “has suffered injury
to [her] business or property asesult of th[e] predicate actsDeck 349 F.3d at 1255. “[T]o
establish the requisitelement of causation’ to maintam 8§ 1964(c) claim, a plaintiff must
plausibly plead ‘that the defendant’s violation naty was a but for cause of his injury, but was
the proximate cause as well . . . Safe Streets859 F.3d at 889 (alteratioims original) (quoting
Bridge v. Phx. Bond & Indem. C&53 U.S. 639, 654 (2008)). “Wihe court evaluates a RICO
claim for proximate causation, the central questiomust ask is whether the alleged violation led
directly to the plaintiff's injuries.” Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Cqrp47 U.S. 451, 461 (2006).
The Supreme Court has stated “[t]here is no neditoaden the universe of actionable harms to
permit RICO suits by parties who halveen injured only indirectly.’Id. at 460.

While a proximate cause analysis may occasionally be a “complex” question in which a
court must consider “external factor§afe Street8859 F.3d at 891, no daunting task is presented
here. The SAC alleges, “In order to participat€) SAT-sanctioned events, it is necessary to be
a USAT member. To be a meerban individual athlete muptly dues to USAT.” SAC 11 333-
34. Thus, the SAC alleges Plaintiffs paid $50dues to be members of USAT, not “as a result of
th[e] predicate acts.Deck 349 F.3d at 1255.

Plaintiffs argue “causation cannot be decidéethe 12(b)(6) stage because it is a factual
issue.” Resp. 48. But they cite to no authdiatythis assertion underetcircumstances of this
case. Further, the Supreme Court dismissedC®Rilaim under Rule 12(b)(6) when the alleged
harm was not the proximate c®uof the predate acts.See Hemi Grp., LLC v. City of New York
559 U.S. 1, 18 (2010) (finding a diRICO claim must be dismisdebecause the alleged injuries

“were not caused directly by the alleged fraadd thus were not caused ‘by reason of’ it”).
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“Determining whether a complaint stata plausible claim for relief ivi . . be a context-specific
task that requires the reviewing court to di@wits judicial experience and common sensgiial,
556 U.S. at 679. Here, Plaintiffs do not allgbat they paid a $5hembership fee because
Defendants entered into an enterprise to obstany investigation of the Lopez Defendants.
Instead, they paid the fee “[ijn order to papate in USAT-sanctioned events.” SAC { 333.
Therefore, any claim based on this injury must fail.

Third, Plaintiffs argue they have standing besealid]amage to ‘business or property’ also
includes the destruction of Pidiffs’ taeckwondo careers.” Rps40. They argue “but for the
illegal actions of Defendds, including their sidaing of Plaintiffs oncethey refused to engage
in sexual services, Plaintiffs would stk competing in taekendo and earning revenueld. at
40-41. However, this claim fails also, becauseSA€ does not plausibly allege these injuries
were caused by the predicate acts of the olgiru@nterprise; rather, the alleged injuries
(cessation of Plaintiffs’ tackwondo cargesscurred before the predicate events.

Specifically, the SAC alleges USAT expll Ms. Meloon in 2008. SAC 1 444. It does
not allege she competed in taeckwondo after that tleee id{ 445-86. Ms. Poe left taeckwondo
in 2008 after failing to make the Olympic teand. § 512. Ms. Poe is last alleged to have
participated in taekwondo in 200&%ee idf 562. Ms. Joslin’s tackamdo career ended in 2010.
See idf{ 622-24. Finally, Ms. Means lagsimpeted in taekwondo in 2011d. § 706. All of
these events occurred before they allege mints entered into the purported enterprise.
“Defendants operated as an association-indaterprise, which was formed for the purpose of
stopping, hindering, and delaying ailvestigations ofrad enforcement actions against the Lopez
brothers . .. ."Id.  846. Plaintiffs allege “[tlhe Lopez Gtouction Enterprise formed in late 2014

or early 2015 as [USAT] begda ‘investigate’ the sex abuse of the Lopez brothelrd.” 847.
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Thus, it is not plausible thatdtpredicate events cauasBlaintiffs to end thir taekwondo careers.
Azimv. Tortoise Capital Advisors, LLRo. 13-2267-KHV, 2014 WL 707235, at *5 (D. Kan. Feb.
24, 2014) (finding a plaintiff did not have stangdito bring a RICO claim when the alleged
predicate events occurrédfter” he incurred th supporting injury). Rintiffs fail to allege
standing based on this injury.

Finally, Plaintiffs argue that in the abserafecontrolling circuit law, | should look to
Colorado state law for guidance on whether the alleged damage to their reputations amounts to an
injury to property for RICO standg. Resp. 42. Plaintiffs cite f&anaya v. Bregmari49 F. Supp.
3d 1312, 1321 (D.N.M. 2015) for this proposition. Heee given the Tenth Circuit’s finding in
Tal, | am not persuaded that | should resort to state law in this8ae€s3 F.3d at 1254 (“[I]njury
to . . . reputation, dignity and emotional damagesrat the type of injueis redressable by . . .

RICO which are expressly limited iojuries to ‘business or propg.™). Regardless, “[a]lthough
RICO is to be read broadly[tlhe phrase “business or prapg’ also retains restrictive
significance.” Ivar v. EIk River Partners, LLC705 F. Supp. 2d 1220, 1232 (D. Colo. 2010)
(quotingSedima 473 U.S. at 497). This “restriction ‘helps assure that RICO is not expanded
to provide a federal cause of action andleelamages to every tort plaintiff.Td. (quotingMaio

v. Aetna, InG.221 F.3d 472, 483 (3d Cir. 2000)). Therefoecline Plaintiffsinvitation to look

to state law to expand the requirement that a RMIO plaintiff first establish injury to “business
or property.” Plaintiffs haveot alleged that speadifiinjury here. Thereire, they do not have

standing to bring their civil RBO claim, and it must fail.

B. Claim Under § 1962(d)

Plaintiffs’ claim under 1962(d) fails, becaubkey do not plausibly allege their claim under

§ 1962(c). “If a plaintiff has no able claim under § 1962(a), (b), or (c), then its subsection (d)
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conspiracy claim fails as a matter of lawTal, 453 F.3d at 1270. Therefore, | respectfully
recommend all Defendants’ Mons to Dismiss Claim 15 kgranted.
lll.  State Law Claims

Plaintiffs bring state law claims for negdigt supervision, negligénetention, negligence,
gross negligence, and outrageousdret. Of these, the negligent supervision and retention claims
are substantively identical. Further, none ef frefendants make an ament that addresses the
negligence and gross negligence claims differently.

A. Claim 16 Negligent Supervision

Claim would be valid: Under two-year statute of limitations.

All Plaintiffs assert a negligent supeiais claim against the USOC and USAT. SAC
19 873—-83. Colorado recognizes the tdmegligent supervisionKeller v. Koca 111 P.3d 445,
448 (Colo. 2005) (citin@estefano v. Grabriarv63 P.2d 275, 286—88 (Colo. 1988)). In Colorado,
“[tlo establish a claim based on negligence, the tiflamust show: (1) the existence of a legal
duty to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant breacheat ttuty; and (3) that the breach of the duty caused
the harm resulting in damages to the plaintiffd. at 447. “To prove negligent supervision, a
plaintiff must prove (1) the defielant owed the plaintiff a legduty to supervise others; (2) the
defendant breached that duty; and (3) the breddhe duty caused the harm that resulted in
damages to the plaintiff.”Settle v. Basinger411l P.3d 717, 723 (Colé\pp. 2013). Further,
“[n]egligent supervision is a direct tort. Thaf ismust be shown thdbhe defendant had a duty
and personally breached that duty, not merelytttagent or employee had and breached a duty,
for which the principal or employer is vicariously liabldd. (citation omitted).

In this case, Plaintiffs allege that the USOC and USAT failed to supervise the Lopez

Defendants, who they argue were employeesiadd institutions. Liability of an employer “is
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predicated on the employer’s anoedent ability toecognize a potential enwlee’s ‘attribute[s]

of character or prior ewuct’ which would create an undue riskharm to those with whom the
employee came in contact in executlig employment responsibilities.Moses v. Diocese of
Colo., 863 P.2d 310, 327 (Colo. 1993) (quoti@gnnes v. Molalla Transp. Sys., In831 P.2d
1316, 1320 (Colo. 1992)). “An employer ‘who knowssbould have known that an employee’s
conduct would subject third partiesan unreasonable risk of hammay be directly liable to third
parties forharm proximately caused by his condtictkeller, 111 P.3d at 448 (emphasis added)
(quotingDestefanp763 P.2d at 288).

Plaintiffs, the USOC, and USAT vigorouslysgute several elements of the merits of a
negligent supervision claim. For instance, Plaintiffs and the USOC debate whether the SAC
plausibly alleges the Lopez Defendants were employees of the US€20SOC’s Mot. Dismiss
16-18; Resp. 53-55; USOC’s Reply 9-10. “It is madic that a prerequisite to establishing
negligent hiring [and supeni] is an employment or agency relationshipbses 863 P.2d at
324. However, even assuming that the Lopeftendants were employees of the USOC and
USAT, | ultimately find Plaintiffs claims must fail, becauseghSAC does not allege that the
Lopez Defendants caused their alleged hatungg the applicable limitations period.

Plaintiffs attempt to base liability undeidftlaim on allegations #t the USOC or USAT
(negligently) supervised or retained thepez Defendants duringédtstatutory period See, e.g.
SAC 1880 (“USOC improperly supervised Jean Lopez by appointing him to coach Team USA
repeatedly, over multiple years, in taeckwondo caitipes.”). However, a plaintiff cannot assert
a negligent supervision claim simply becauseemployer supervised or retained the employee
during the statutory period (even if the emplogeew of the employee’s dangerous propensities),

without alleging the employee harmix plaintiff during that period.
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A negligent supervision claim accrues on the date of the underlyiny Righardo v.
N.Y.C. Dep’'t of Edug953 N.Y.S.2d 31, 32 (N.Y. App. Di2012) (“[A] negligent supervision
... claim[] accrue[s] on the datetbk last alleged underlying act[.]Jphn Doe 1 v. Archdiocese
of Milwaukee 734 N.W.2d 827, 838-39 (Wis. 2007) (“[C]laina$ negligent spervision . . .
accrued, as a matter of law, by the timehaf last incident of sexual assaultsge Locker v. City
of St. Florian 989 So. 2d 546, 549 (Ala. Civ. App. 2008). rélethe last incent of alleged
underlying abuse occurred in approximately 2088eSAC { 630. Therefore, all of Plaintiffs’
negligent supervision clais expired, at the latest, in 2013. Tisisvell before they brought this
suit in 2018. Thereforany negligent supervision claim is time barred.

As an alternative means of supporting theaims, Plaintiffs ague the same factual
allegations that support the obstruction claimdl“demonstrate the need for equitable tolling of
the statutes of limitation on Plaintiffs’ néggnce claims because the [D]efendants have
wrongfully obstructed the Pldiffs’ abilities to bring tkeir claims.” Resp. 15.

Whether the limitations period shoulg tolled is governedby state law. Fratus v.
DelLand 49 F.3d 673, 675 (10th Cir. 1995). Colordde provides that “[o]nce the statute of
limitations is raised as a defensel[,] the burderpmiof shifts to the party asserting that its
application should bequitably tolled.” Sharp Bros. Contracting Co. & Sanders Co., Inc. v.
Westvaco Corp.878 P.2d 38, 44 (Colo. App. 1994). In Qaldo, “[t]he doctrine of equitable
tolling is limited to situations in which eigh the defendant’s wrongful conduct prevented the

plaintiff from asserting the claims in a timehanner or truly exceptionalrcumstances prevented

4 The parties do not cite to, and | have not fiyum Colorado court thairecisely addresses the
issue of when a negligent supervision claim aesr However, Colorado cases that address
negligent supervision claims are entrebnsistent with this conclusiorseeKeller, 111 P.3d at
447-51;Moses 863 P.2d at 323-29.
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the plaintiff from filing the claim despite diligent effortaNoel v. Hooverl2 P.3d 328, 330 (Colo.

App. 2000). Plaintiffs do not argue that “trudceptional circumstances” warrant tolling the
statute here. Instead, they argue that Defendants’ wrongful conduct prevented them from filing
their claims within theleadline. Resp. 35.

“Generally, in order for a statute of lit@tions to be tolled because of equitable
considerations, the party asserting the statutedefense must be the party engaging in conduct
that would make the application of the statute inequitat$éarp Bros.878 P.2d at 44. A statute
of limitations may be tolled if the defendants gaged in any conduct which adversely affected
the filing of [the plaintif's] claims . . . .” Id. But here, nothing in the SAC alleges that any
Defendant adversely affectedyaPlaintiff's ability to file her claims against DefendantSee
Sharp Bros. 878 P.2d at 44. Therefore, | see no reakah warrants tolling the statute here.
Ultimately, Plaintiffs’ negligent supervision clainfail, and | respectfully recommend that the
USOC'’s and USAT’s Motions to Dismiss Claim 16dranted.

B. Claim 17 Negligent Retention

None of the parties, including Plaintiffsgae there is a substaré difference between
the negligent supervision and negligent retentiaims, and Colorado appears to treat the claims
as the sameSee Van Osdol v. Vqdi92 P.2d 402, 408 (Colo. App994) (“An employer may be
subject to liability for negligensupervision and retentiontiie employer knows or should have
known that an employee’s conduabwid subject third parties to an unreasonable risk of harm.”)

affd and remanded908 P.2d 1122 (Colo. 19963¢ge alsoResp. 13 (grouping the negligent

® This conclusion is not inconsistent with my recommendation that Plaintiffs’ 18 U.S.C. § 1590(b)
obstruction claims proceed against USAT. IAfiscussed, 8 1590(b) requires obstruction of a
governmental investigation, and Plaintiffieusibly allege those violations.
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supervision and negligent retenmtiglaims as substantively identical). Accordingly, this claim
fails for the same reason as the negligent supenvidaim, as they are both barred by the statute
of limitations. | respectfully recommend that th80OC’s and USAT’s Motions to Dismiss Claim
17 begranted.

C. Claim 19 Negligence

Claim would be valid: Under two-year statute of limitations.

All Plaintiffs assert a negligence claagainst the USOC and USAT. SAC 11 938-49. As
a preliminary matter in analyzing this claim, Rli#fs do not suggest that their negligence claim
applies any differently againgte USOC than against USABeeResp. 48-51. Therefore, | will
analyze both simultaneously.

The elements of a negligenclaim are straightforward. “Testablish a claim based on
negligence, the plaintiff must show: (1) the éxe of a legal duty to the plaintiff; (2) the
defendant breached that duty; and (3) thathtteach of the duty caused the harm resulting in
damages to the plaintiff.Keller, 111 P.2d at 447.

1. Duty

The threshold question to this claim is wietthe USOC or USAdwed Plaintiffs a duty
of care. “Whether a particular defendant owegallduty to a particulgslaintiff is a question of
law.” Univ. of Denver v. Whitlogk’'44 P.2d 54, 57 (Colo. 198 HealthONE v. Rodriguez ex rel.
Rodriguez 50 P.3d 879, 888 (Colo. 2002) (“[T]he initigliestion in any negligence action is
whether the defendant owed a legal duty to protecplaintiff against injury.”). This is because
“[a] negligence claim must falil if based on cimstances for which the law imposes no duty of

care upon the defendant for thenb8t of the plaintiff.” Whitlock 744 P.2d at 56. Both the USOC
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and USAT argue that the negligence claim fdilscause they did not @mMegal duties to the
Plaintiffs. USOC’s Mot. Disngs 22; USAT’s Mot. Dismiss 21-23.

Plaintiffs assert that their negligence claim arises from a duty to reasonably investigate
their complaints of misconduct by the Lopez Defants. SAC § 941 (“At all relevant times,
USOC]J] [and] USAT . . . had a duty to exercimasonable care in investigating and pursuing
complaints of criminal conduct, sexual miscondatd violations of federal law against their
member athletes, including Plaiiféi”). However, Plaintiffs ite to no authority supporting the
existence of such a duty. Still, Plaintiffs arguattthe duty is apparent after an evaluation of a
number of factors. Resp. 51.

Indeed, Colorado courts consider sevdraltors to determine whether a particular
defendant owes a legal duty: “(1) the risk invaly€) the foreseeabilitsgnd likelihood of injury
as weighed against the social utility of the fgefant’s] conduct, (3) éhmagnitude of the burden
of guarding against injury or harm, and ¢4 consequences of placing the burden upon the
[defendant].” Taco Bell, Inc. v. Lannqri744 P.2d 43, 46 (Colo. 1987) (alterations in original)
(numbering added) (quotir®mith v. City & County of Denvef26 P.2d 1125, 1127 (Colo. 1986)).
“No one factor is controlling, antie question of whether a dutyaild be imposed in a particular
case is essentially one of fairness under contemporary standards—whether reasonable persons
would recognize a duty arajree that it exists.Whitlock 744 P.2d at 57.

Before addressing these factors, | pauserme@ndto recognize an argument by USAT that,
when determining whether it owed Plaintiffs a didyreasonably investigati,is appropriate to
consider the Plaintiffs wefermermembers of USAT during theastitory period. USAT’s Mot.
Dismiss 22-23. Although Plaintiffs dismiss thgwmnent as “repugnantResp. 49, | agree the

point is relevant to the issuegsented. The allegations in tBAC state that Plaintiffs stopped
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competing in taeckwondo, at the latest, ppeoximately 2011. SAC 1Y 624-26 (Ms. Joslin), 706
(Ms. Means). By the time period actionable fds ttlaim, Plaintiffs hd not been members of
USAT for a minimum of five year. Properly framed, the questipresented is whether the USOC
and USAT owed a duty to former members of US8Teasonably investigate their complaints of
sexual abuse. | am not aware of any case finding, or even addressing, whether an umbrella athletic
organization owes such a duty, so | will begin my analysis witfi dioce Bellfactors.

First, the risk involved to gormer athlete is low. Thegk of harm that might resuib
former athleteof USAT if USAT or the USOC do noeasonably investigate their allegations of
sexual assault is minimal. That is, the athlé@ge by definition left th organization and are no
longer subject to a threat of thast harmful conduct. Presumgalthey are nodnger in frequent
personal contact with the alleged abusere fiifst factor weighs against finding a duty.

The second factor weighs in favor of findia duty, although not as strongly as it might
appear. The factor considerfiétforeseeability and likelihood of injury as weighed against the
social utility of the [defendant’s] conduct . . . Taco Bel|] 744 P.2d at 46. While it might be
somewhat foreseeable that the former athlete could be harmed if an organization does not
investigate her reports of past abusesh injury is not likely to hgen. Also, there is clearly little
to no social utility in the USOGr USAT failing to reasonablyvestigate reports of abuse brought
by former members.

The third factor considers the “magnitudethe burden of guarding against injury or
harm.” Taco Bel] 744 P.2d at 46. | find the magnitudegufarding against injury or harm to
former members would be high. Such duty would effectively force NGBs to investigate former
athletes’ complaints merely to avoid liability teetformer athlete, not nessarily to protect them

from injury or harm. The thirdaictor weighs against finding a duty.
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The final factor considers the conseqeesnof placing the burden upon a defenddiaico
Bell, 744 P.2d at 46. | find the consequenoédurdening the USOC and/or NGBs with
investigating former members’ oplaints of misconduct would tsggnificant. Such a duty might
require investigation into allejans of misconduct, even whesich reports would not protect
current athletes. Under Plaintiffs’ theory, thetitutions would have a duty to investigate their
reports of abuse, even when the abuser waenmger associated witthe institution, and was
unlikely to prevent future injury to othersSeemingly, this duty would exist solely to avoid
emotional harm to the former athlete who repdrthe abuse. “[W]hether a duty should be
imposed in a particular case is essentially @fifairness under contemporary standards—whether
reasonable persons would recognizguty and agree that it existsWhitlock 744 P.2d at 57.
Here, theTaco Bellfactors weigh decidedlggainst finding a duty to uestigate allegations of
misconduct by former members/athletes for purposes of attaching liability for negligence.
Moreover, | have found, and Pléiffs cite to, no law identifying such a proposed duty.

2. Assumed a Duty

Alternatively, Plaintiffs argue that the US@G8sumed a duty to reasonably investigate “by
intervening in the affairs of bNGBs . . . and inducing Plaifi§’ reliance on USOC'’s help.”
Resp. 50-51. “Under some circumstances, a pagy assume duties of care by voluntarily
undertaking to render a service, and negligent performantteabfassumed duty may impose
liability.” E. Meadows Co. v. Greeley Irrigation C66 P.3d 214, 218 (Colo. App. 2003). “Under
the ‘assumed duty’ or ‘good samantaoctrine . . . thguestion of whether [a defendant] assumed
duties to the [plaintiff] . . . is obviously not anely legal question [and]. . . becomes a mixed
guestion of law and fact . . . Jefferson Cty. Sch. Dist. RvlJustus ex rel. Justug25 P.2d 767,

771 (Colo. 1986). Any argument that a defendant has assumed a duty “must be predicated on two
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factual findings.” Id. First, “[@] plaintiff must . . . showhat the defendant, either through its
affirmative acts or through a prase to act, undertook to rendesarvice that was reasonably
calculated to prevent the type ofrimathat befell the plaintiff.”ld. “Second, a plaintiff must also
show either that he relied on the defendameidorm the service or & defendant’s undertaking
increased plaintiff's risk.”ld.

In Jefferson Cty. Sch. Dist. Rd first-grader was injured as he was riding his bicycle home
from school. Id. at 768. Before the accident, the schdistrict had distributed a handbook that
stated only students in grades four throsiglcould ride their bicycles to schodtl. Additionally,
the school principal had assigned teachers tolghi school grounds before and after the school
day. Id. at 768—69.

Addressing the issue of whether the school othiedstudent a duty of care as he rode his
bike home from school, the court recognized ttla¢ common law custlial duty of a school
towards its students only requirasschool district to protect itiren against the foreseeable
negligence of third parties while the children are in its charlge.at 770. While this duty of care
would not have extended to the student as hehizdaike off school grounds, the court noted that
“in addition to those duties imposed by law soletythe basis of the relationship between parties,
a separate and distinct body of law holds thatrty may assume duties of care by voluntarily
undertaking to render a servicdd.

The court decided that thesue of whether the school assdraeduty of care was a highly
fact-intensive question. It determined that themiiff “raised a genuinésue as to whether by
distributing the handbook and byaping teachers at the front tife school, the school district
undertook the task of enforcing a rakat students in hlower grades were not eligible to ride

bicycles to and from school.ld. at 772. A plaintiff eed only to “presentgome evidence of an
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affirmative act or promise to act sufficientdmeate an inference thtite defendant undertook a
service that would have preveni@dintiff's injuries” to create tactual disputelaout whether the
defendant assumed a dutyaaire to the plaintiff.Id. The court made clear, the “determination
that the school district hassumed a duty must be based onaterftactual findings . . . .id.

Here, Plaintiffs argue that the USOGsamed a duty to reasonably investigate their
complaints of sexual abuse by ‘@nvening in the affairs of the NGBand of Plaintiffs, setting up
SafeSport, asking [Mr.] Alpersteto turn his investigation over to SafeSport (rather than actually
pursuing action against the Lopezes), and induBilagntiffs’ reliance on USOC's help.” Resp.
50-51. Plaintiffs allege “[tlhe USOC createde®port in response to overwhelming allegations
of sex crimes. SafeSport was devised by the US@he entity that was supposed to protect
athletes from sex crimes angpéoitation.” SAC {1 69-70. Theslso allege “SafeSport is not
independent from the USOC, has been pladgyethe USOC’s meddling, has been left grossly
understaffed and underfunded . . .Id. § 71. Plaintiffs allege the USOC launched SafeSport in
March 2017d. § 280, within the statutory period for thuigim. It further alleges that SafeSport
was not fully operational in 2017d. 1 281. The USOC funds SafeSport and, in 2018, the USOC
increased SafeSport’s funding to $3.1 millidd. T 275. 1 find the Plaintiffs have “present[ed]
some evidence of an affirmative act” sufficientteate an inferenceahthe USOC undertook a
service that would have prevented Plaintiffs’ injuri&ee Jefferson Cty. Sch. Dist. RF25 P.2d
at 772. Therefore, dismissing the clabthis juncture is not proper.

Finally, USOC argues that Plaintiffs’ negdigce claim must fail, because they do not
allege physical damages. USOC’s Mot. Disn@8s Colorado has “never recognized a cause of
action for emotional distress grounded in negjlice without proof thate plaintiff sustained

physical injury . . . .”Culpepper v. Pearl St. Bldg., In&77 P.2d 877, 880 n.3 (Colo. 1994). But,
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Plaintiffs allege physical injuries in addition to emotional distr&=e, e.g.SAC T 485 (mental
and physical symptoms), 486 (reputational ha&®2, (harm to reputation, e, and profession),
586 (relationships and business). Therefore, Plaintiffs have alleged damages that are cognizable
for stating a negligence claim in Colorado.

Accordingly, | respectfully recommentthe USOC’s Motion to Dismiss Claim 19 be
deniedand USAT’s Motion to Dismiss Claim 19 geanted.

D. Claim 20 Gross Negligence

The USOC makes no argumerdttPlaintiffs’ gross negligexe claims should be dismissed
on any ground different from those arguedismiss the ordinary negligence clai®eeUSOC’s
Mot. Dismiss 22-24 (addressing the negligencarcland gross negligence claim identically);
USOC's Reply 14 (“[T]he SAC’s gross negligence claim fails for the same reasons as the claim
for negligence.”). Therefore, | reach the saommclusions for this claim as Claim 19. |
respectfully recommend the USOC’s Motion to Dismiss Claim 2feinéed and USAT’s Motion
to Dismiss Claim 20 bgranted.

E. Claim 21 Outrageous Conduct

Claim would be valid: Under two-year statute of limitations.

All Plaintiffs assert an outrageousciuct claim against the USOC. SAC 1Y 960-66. The
USOC argues that dismissal of this claim is waterd, because the “claim fails to meet the bar for
outrageous conduct.” USOC’s Mot. Dismiss 24.

To prove outrageous conduct under Coloradg k& plaintiff mustdemonstrate: (1) the
defendant engaged in extreme and outrageonduct; (2) the defendaehgaged in the conduct

recklessly or with the intent of causing the plaintiff severe emotional sistead (3) the plaintiff
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incurred severe emotional distress whicas caused by the defendant’s condQatpepper 877
P.2d at 882 (Colo. 1994). The deflant’s actions must be

SO outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible

bounds of decency, and to be regardeatescious, and utterly intolerable in a

civilized community. General) the case is one in whithe recitation of the facts

to an average member of the commumiguld arouse his resentment against the

actor, and lead him to exclaim, “Outrageous!”

Churchey v. Adolph Coors Cd.59 P.2d 1336, 1350 (Colo. 1988) (citiRggg v. McCarty476
P.2d 753, 756 (1970)). “Proof of thart of outrageous conduct muginsist of eiter an extreme
act, both in character and degreea pattern of conduérom which the inalctable conclusion is
the infliction of severe mental suffering was calculated or recklessly and callously infl@terd.”

v. Teletronics Pacing Sys., In859 F. Supp. 1349, 1354 (D. Colo. 1994). Although “the question
of whether conduct is outrageougenerally one of fact to be t@emined by a juy, it is first the
responsibility of a codrto determine whether reasonablespas could differ on the question.”
Coors Brewing Co. v. Floyd®78 P.2d 663, 666 (Colo. 1999) (quoti@glpepper 877 P.2d at
883).

Plaintiffs primarily base this claim on S&fgort’s decision to reinste Jean Lopez after it
initially banned him for life. Resp. 62 (“Defendta . . . acted ruthlessly against [Plaintiffs] by
first demanding that they testify live at [Jelampez’s] appeal and then, when they did not, by
lifting [his] lifetime ban in violation of their own procedures and any legitimate rule of law.” ).
However, the SAC alleges SafeSport, nettiSOC, is responsible for this decisidee idJ 20
(“[SafeSport’s] decision to reinstate Jdaopez was reckless and haphazard.”).

As this claim is asserted against the USO@&infffs argue that itdecision to “[c]ontinu[e]

to support and clothe Steven and Jean Lopez with the legitimacy dradityuof Team USA

despite having actual and constructive knowledgtheif decades long patteat serial sexual
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predation” supports the claimd.  963(a). Specifically, Plaintiffallege “[a]ll five Plaintiffs
were contacted or were in contact with Sgfert or [Mr.] Alpersten between 2015 and 2017.”
Id. T 245. But the SAC alleges “USOC and USAtretly worked togethebehind closed doors,
to make sure that the investigation againstihygez brothers was delayed and obstructed because
of their key roles in the 2016 Olympics[.Jd.  226. Jean coached in the 2016 Olympics.
1 233. Steven competed in the 2016 Olympics.{ 232. The SAC further alleges the “USOC
allowed Steven Lopez to compete in the 2017 Wa&tampionships, and even paid for his first-
class travel.”ld. § 252. 1find that there are sufficient allégas that could lead jury to conclude
that “the defendants acted recklessly with thewkadge that there was a substantial probability
that their conduct would cause severe emotional distréds As such, | respectfully recommend
the USOC'’s Motion to Dismiss Claim 21 Henied
IV.  USOC'’s Rule 12(f) Motion to Strike Class Action Allegations

Finally, the USOC argues that Plaintiffs’ast action allegations should be stricken.
Plaintiffs purport to bring their claims on behafftwo “nationwide clases”: (1) a Rule 23(b)(2)
Injunction Class, defined as:

All USOC-governed female athletes (sedtjto the USOC’s “commercial terms”
page or any other contract);

SAC 1 723, and (2) a Rule 23(b)(3) andi®(4) Damages Class, defined as:
All USOC-governed female athlete[s] (setj to the USOC’scommercial terms”
page or any other contract) and who jparticipated in taekwondo from 2003 to
present and (2) traveled oaimned with Jean Lopez, Peter Lopez, or Steven Lopez.
SAC 1 723.
The USOC argues that these allegations shmeiktricken under Rule 12(f), because they

are “facially overbroad.” USOE€ Mot. Dismiss 25. Specificlgl the USOC argues that the
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injunction class is overbroad because it inekid’[a]ll USOC-governed female athletes,”
regardless of whether they competed in taekwontth. Second, the damages class would
necessarily “sweep in untimebfaims against the USOC.Id. Finally, “neither the injunction
class nor the ‘[dlamages’ class is limited to at#datho suffered an alleged injury—i.e., athletes
who were allegedly abused by the Lopez brothei." The USOC argues that it is appropriate to
strike class allegations when the putative ctasdude[s] class members ‘regardless of whether
[they were] ever injured’ by the alleged condudd (alteration in original) (quotingdwards v.
Zenimax Media In¢gNo. 12-cv-00411-WYD-KLM, 2012 Wi4378219, at *5 (D. Colo. Sept. 25,
2012)).

A. Damage<lass

With respect to the damages class definitioairfiffs make a numbesf arguments in an
attempt to rebut the USOC'’s position. First, Plaintiffs argue that the USOC'’s citakdwards
is inapt, becausBdwards(they say) was decided on a nootifor class certification. Resp. 62
(“Edwardswas decided in opposition to a motion faxsd certification, not a motion to dismiss.”
(parentheses omitted)). However, as the USOC argdesrdswas decided on a motion to strike
class allegations, albaihder Rule 23(d)(1)(D)See2012 WL 4378219, at *2. That Rule permits
a court to “issue orders that . . . require tthat pleadings be amended to eliminate allegations
about representation of absent pesson. .” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(d)(D). Other carts have found
no significance to the distincticend decided to strike classtiao allegations under Rule 12(f)
and Rule 23(d)(1)(D).See, e.qg.Tietsworth v. Sears20 F. Supp. 2d 1123, 1145-47 (N.D. Cal.
2010);Hovsepian v. Apple, IndNo. 08-5788 JF (PVT), 2009 WL 50691 4t *6 (N.D. Cal. Dec.

17, 2009) (granting a motion to strikeder Rule 12(f)). FurthefjetsworthandHovsepianvere
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both decided in an identical posture to this Motion—a simultaneous motion to dismiss and motion
to strike. SeeTietsworth 720 F. Supp. 2d at 1127-28pvsepian 2009 WL 5069144, at *1.

In Edwards the court decided to grant the motiorstioke class action allegations, because
it found the “definition [wa$ inadequate because it [wa]s ovedatand include[dpotential class
members] . . . regardless of whether he or she was ever injuredld. at™5. This is the precise
basis on which the USOC relies for its argumeat Plaintiffs’ allegatbns should be stricken
here, and other courts haveiaed at the same conclusioBee, e.gRasmussen v. Apple In27
F. Supp. 3d 1027, 1045-46 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (grandéimgotion to strike, because “the [class]
definition is overbroad as it includes within ttlass individuals who have not experienced any
issue or defect” with the litigated producEjetsworth 720 F. Supp. 2d at 1146 (granting a motion
to strike class action allegations when the pregagass definition “inclde[s] members who have
not experienced any problems Withe allegedly defective product).

Plaintiffs do not dispute #t the definition includes indiduals whose claims would be
barred by the statetof limitations. SeeResp. 62. However, thegspond to this argument by
asserting that the fact th#lhe class definition would ingtle uninjured class members or
individuals whose claim would be time-barred “ismaterial,” because “the possibility or even
inevitability thatthe class will include members not irgd by the defendantsonduct does not
preclude class certifitian.” Resp. 62—63 (quotinigy re Syngenta AMIR 162 Corn Litig, No.
14-MD-2591-JWL, 2016 WL 5371856, & (D. Kan. Sept. 26, 2016)). However, the fact that a
class may inevitably include members who did incur an injury is a different question than
whether a class includes persons who could not kaffered an injury—the latter definition is
overbroad. The case to which Plaintiffs citere Syngentarecognized this vergrinciple. 2016

WL 5371856, at *4 (“[I]f ‘a class islefined so broadly as to inge a great number of members
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who for some reason could not have been hatyatie defendant’s allegedly unlawful conduct,
the class is defined too broadty permit certification.” (quotingMessner v. Northshore Univ.
HealthSystem669 F.3d 802, 824 (7th Cir. 2012)). Theecas which it relied di so as well.See
Kohen v. Pac. Inv. Mgmt. C&71 F.3d 672, 677 (7th Cir. 2009) (f[the class definition is so
broad that it sweeps withit persons who could not have baejired by the dendant’s conduct,

it is too broad.”).

Plaintiffs also argue it is inappropriate tidaess the issue at this time, because “it requires
factual assessments that can’tha&de at the 12(b)(6) stageResp. 63. But the USOC’s Motion
to Strike is filed under Rule 12(f), not Rule 12(b)(&dwardsdemonstrates that it is proper for a
court to strike class allegations when the pregdoslass definition is overbroad. Therefore, |
respectfully recommend USCMotion to Strike begranted as to the damages cl&ss.

B. InjunctionClass

With regard to Plaintiffs’ proposed injutive class definition, | mive at a different
conclusion. Plaintiffs argue that the injuneticlass should proceed regardless of whether it
contains uninjured class membersDI@ ex rel. Stricklin v. Devaughf94 F.3d 1188, 1195 (10th
Cir. 2010), the Tenth Circuit declined to considerargument that the definition of an injunctive
class was overbroad. Howeverdid reach a related issue whether every class member must
prove he or she “is under a threat of harnsatsfy Rule 23(a)’s requirements of commonality
and typicality . . . .”Id. Conveniently, the question was prdsehin a highly aalogous context.

In Devaughnthe nine named plaintiffs were festchildren under the care of Oklahoma

Department of Human Services,datiney brought their case alieg “the policies and practices

%1 note that some of the cases I relied on forebisclusion, which granted motions to strike class
allegations, permitted the plaintiffs leave to amend the proposed class definition.
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[of the department] expose[d] all class memberartompermissible risk of harm . . . Id. at
1192. Generally, the plaintiffs afjed that the policiesf the department exposed them to abuse
or neglect by both the foster families and theatdogical parents, and the department inadequately
monitored the childrenld. at 1193. The plaintiffs sought tepresent a class of approximately
10,000 children in the department’s custody and sounjimctive relief tkat would require the
department to alter certain policielsl. 1194-95.

In addressing the defendants’ argumentsttteatlass did not meBule 23’s requirements
of commonality or typicality, the court noted theaipliffs alleged that all of the class members
“are allegedly exposed to the same unreasonablefriskrm as a result of [d]efendants’ unlawful
practices. Though each class member may not havallgctuffered abuse, neglect, or the risk of
such harm, [d]efendants’ conduct allegedly poseskaof impermissible harm to all children in
[department] custody.” Further, the court nateat “Rule 23’s certificabn requirements neither
require all class members to suffer harm or thoéatnmediate harm nor [nJamed [p]laintiffs to
prove class members have suffered such harid” at 1197. Moreover, “[tihe Advisory
Committee’s Note to Rule 23 exphai certification is appropriate ew if the defendants[’] action
or inaction ‘has taken effect or is threatened aslyo one or a few members of the class, provided
it is based on grounds which have gahapplication to the class.’Id. at 1198.

To be sure, th®evaughncourt declined to address the precise argument USOC makes
here—that the proposed class is overbroad.at 1195. Still, using #hdecision as guidance, |
find that this purported defect does not warrant stgkhe allegations. Plaiffs are athletes who
sought to compete for Team USA, and theygalthe USOC subjected them to an unreasonable
risk of harm by coaches orhdtes within the systemSeeSAC § 727(i). Plaitiffs allege their

claims are typical of the clasdd. {1 725. In accord witbevaughn| find that Plaintiffs’ class
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allegations are appropriate, despite the USO&ument that the purported class contains
individuals who have not been harmed by thegaltbunreasonable risk barm. Therefore, |
respectfully recommend USCXMotion to Strike baleniedas to the injunctive class.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, kpectfully recommend that Judge Arguello

permit the following claims to proceed in this case:

e Claim 3 against Steven Lopez;

e Claim 4 against USAT;

e Claim 5 against Steven Lopez;

e Claim 8 against Steven Lopez;

e Claim 9 against USOC and USAT,;

e Claim 10 against Steven Lopez;

e Claim 13 against Steven Lopez;

e Claim 14 against USAT;

e Claim 19 against USOC;

e Claim 20 against USOC,;

e Claim 21 against USOC.
In addition, | recommend that Judgeguello dismiss the following claims:

e Claim 5 against USAT;

e Claim 14 against USOC,;

e Claim 15 against USOC, USAT, and the Lopez Defendants;

e Claim 16 against USOC and USAT;
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e Claim 17 against USOC and USAT;
e Claim 19 against USAT;
e Claim 20 against USAT.
Finally, as Plaintiffs withdrew the majority dheir claims against Jean Lopez and | have
recommended dismissing the RICO claim agdanst, | also recommend dismissing Jean Lopez
as a Defendant in this case.
THEREFORE, | respectfully RECOMMEND th&tefendants’ Motions to Dismiss and

USOC'’s Motion to Strike [filed Septdwmer 24, 2019; ECF Nos. 106, 108 & 109]JGRANTED

IN PART andDENIED IN PART as set forth hereih.
Respectfully submitted this 6th day of March, 2019, at Denver, Colorado.

BY THE COURT:
W 3 Weifu%;

Michael E. Hegarty
UnitedStatedMagistrateJudge

" Be advised that all parties shiahve fourteen (14) days aftegrvice hereof to serve and file
any written objections in order tbtain reconsideration by the Dist Judge to whom this case
is assigned. Fed. R. Civ. P. 72. The partpdilobjections must specifically identify those
findings or recommendations to which the obmutsi are being made. The District Court need
not consider frivolous, conclusiva general objections. A pargyfailure to file such written
objections to proposed findings and recommendationsained in this report may bar the party
from a de novo determination by the Distrdudge of the proposed findings and
recommendationsUnited States v. Radda#47 U.S. 667, 676-83 (1980); 28 U.S.C. §
636(b)(1). Additionally, the failure to fileritten objections to the proposed findings and
recommendations within fourteen (14) dayter being served with a copy may bar the
aggrieved party from appealing the factual ag@alléindings of the Magitrate Judge that are
accepted or adopted by the District Cowuffield v. Jacksonb45 F.3d 1234, 1237 (10th Cir.
2008) (quotingMoore v. United State®50 F.2d 656, 659 (10th Cir. 1991)).
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